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AT A GLANCE

MAN Ferrostaal is a worldwide provider of industrial so-
lutions in the plant construction and industrial 

equipment sectors. As a general contractor in the plant  
construction sector we offer project development, project 
management and financing concepts for constructing 
plants in the areas of petrochemicals, oil and gas, gas and 
solar power plants, biofuels and selected industrial plants.

One focus of our work is on turnkey construction with the 
major value-adding features of engineering, procurement 
and construction (EPC). In selected cases we also invest in 
the shareholders’ capital of the operating companies, for 
which we provide services as our customers. Our partnering 

approach is important for our work: in large plant construc-
tion projects we coordinate up to 100 companies, integrat-
ing them into our work as partners.

MAN Ferrostaal is an independent distribution and service 
partner in the automotive, printing and packaging, piping 
and ships sectors for manufacturers and operators of ma-
chines and systems.

MAN Ferrostaal has 4,400 employees who are active in over 
60 countries. The majority of the shares of MAN Ferrostaal 
is owned by the International Petroleum Investment Com-
pany, Abu Dhabi (IPIC; 70%). The remaining 30% of the 

MAN Ferrostaal Headquarters in Essen

MAN Ferrostaal subsidiaries

MAN Ferrostaal branches

Joint ventures / Investments



shares are owned by MAN AG (Munich). IPIC is a company 
owned by the government of the Emirate of Abu Dhabi. Since 
its foundation in 1984, IPIC has become one of the leading in-
vestors in the fields of oil and gas and power generation. The 
company owns shares to the value of 15 billion US dollars in Hy-
undai Oilbank (Korea), Gulf Energy Maritime (Dubai), CEPSA 
(Spain), Borealis and OMV (Austria), Oman Polypropylene 
(Oman), PARCO (Pakistan), SUMED (Egypt), Energia de Portugal 
(Portugal) and COSMO Oil (Japan). In addition to its foreign in-
vestments, IPIC also plays a key role in developing the economy 
of Abu Dhabi: The company is a shareholder in the major pet-
rochemical project Chemaweyaat and is building the ADCOP 
crude oil pipeline.

The MAN Group is a leading European motor vehicle, engine 
and mechanical engineering group with annual sales of around 
fifteen billion euros. MAN manufactures trucks, buses/coaches, 
diesel engines and turbo machinery and has a global workforce 
of around 50,000 employees. MAN AG, Munich, is listed in the 
DAX index of Germany’s 30 leading stock corporations.
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2008 was marked by good business development in the first 
half of the year and a considerably more difficult trend as 

a result of the worldwide financial and economic crisis in the 
second half of the year. MAN Ferrostaal is exposed to the finan-
cial crisis, as many of our projects are financed by third parties 
and financing is becoming more difficult. We have capabilities, 
however, that help us to mitigate this situation, at least to some 
degree. We have a very active project development programme 
in the Projects division, for example, where we work closely with 
the investors. Thanks to our longstanding partnerships with 
well-known institutions in the banking industry, we are still in a 
position to propose and implement customised financing models 
that are tailored to the specific situation of our customers. Here 
our willingness to participate in suitable projects with our own 
capital also clearly makes a positive impression with our financ-
ing partners. Over the course of many years in the development 
of projects, we have acquired the know-how and experience 
necessary for the assessment of major projects, enabling us to 
concentrate on those projects that promise high profitability. 
This, too, is helpful in obtaining suitable financing.

The impact of the developments in the financial markets quickly 
made itself felt in the markets within the industrial equip-
ment sector, where the business units of our Services division 
operate. In some cases, the effects were severe. By contrast, we 
observed a far more moderate reaction in our markets in the 
plant construction sector.

In general, the trend in our markets in plant construction was 
positive overall, despite the financial crisis. The oil and gas, 
petrochemical and power plant sectors demonstrated good 
development in 2008. The key factor regarding these sectors is 
that demand for relevant products – basic chemical stocks, fuels 
and electrical energy – essentially parallels global growth in 
population and wealth. This makes them less dependent on the 
state of the economy. The projects in which we are active in these 
sectors have timelines of several years and are often carried out 
under contract for government-owned principals. The reactions 
among customers in the public sector to developments in the 
international financial markets were far milder than in many 
areas of the private sector.

A further factor that explains why our plant construction seg-
ment did not collapse lies in the regional distribution of our 
businesses. In many cases, our company operates in regions 
that grow rapidly and are still far from reaching the point of 
saturation. For this reason, the profitability of the relevant plant 

construction projects is often more favourable than in intensely 
competitive markets that naturally react more sensitively to 
bottlenecks in the financial sector. Our regional distribution’s 
focus on the Middle East/North Africa, Latin America and South 
East Asia has been beneficial for our business, especially in view 
of the worldwide financial crisis.

As our company has broad-based activities in countries that 
produce oil and gas, the overall willingness to invest, which forms 
the basis for our business, depends not infrequently on the 
price of oil. As a general rule, high oil prices have a positive effect 
on our business.

The trend toward moving production capacities nearer to the 
sources of raw materials in order to achieve logistical advantages 
is beneficial to us, as is the shift toward the construction of ever-
larger plants in order to achieve economies of scale. Our compa-
ny profits from these developments, as we have already had an 
extensive presence in the countries in question for many years 
now – countries in which political conditions are not always 
easy. In the construction of mega-plants, the demand for our 
expertise as a general contractor that manages a large number 
of partners is constantly growing, as the implementation of 
highly complex projects overwhelms more and more individual 
entrepreneurs – projects that exceed the one-billion threshold 
with ever-increasing frequency.

In the markets for renewables, on the other hand, the combined 
effects of the financial crisis and the dramatically reduced price 
of oil are becoming apparent. Projects in the solar thermal 
power plant sector, which still held great promise at the start of 
2008, have been postponed for now, as the financing has become 
considerably more difficult. Some of these plants are the first of 
their kind. Projects in the biofuels area followed a similar pattern. 
As a result of the two-thirds drop in the price of crude oil over the 
course of a few months, projects in this area have lost the econom-
ic incentives they otherwise derive from high crude oil prices.

The industries associated with industrial equipment, which we 
support with the business segments in our Services division, 
showed less positive development overall in the second half of 
the year. This pertains to the automotive, printing and packag-
ing industries, in particular. Here, a significant drop in activity 
was evident as a result of the financial crisis which also had an 
impact on our business.

Economic Environment
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The collapse in auto sales affected the entire automotive indus-
try, and thereby affected our business as well, inasmuch as we 
supply prefabricated components and modules to manufactur-
ers in Europe on a just-in-sequence basis. Production cuts result 
in reduced volumes for us, too, but we are able to adapt flex-
ibly thanks, for example, to our relatively low fixed costs. The 
situation for the equipment business unit, where we provide 
small and medium-sized companies with industrial equip-
ment, presents a similar picture. The decline in demand that is 
becoming apparent worldwide has diminished our customers’ 
willingness to invest. Our global presence in this area is also 
helpful in this situation, as not all regions are affected equally 
by the financial crisis.

Our extensive international infrastructure enables us to broad-
en our service spectrum and to acquire new business in service 
and after-sales service. We managed to expand horizontally in 
some countries by leveraging our well-established printing 
machinery business to gain customers in neighbouring areas, 
for example in the packaging, plastics and food sectors. Having 
known our customers well for years in the markets in which 
we operate, we also grant supplier’s credits on a selective basis. 
This programme relies on our highly effective management of 
receivables. We are confident that this instrument will enable 
us to offer an additional incentive, which will help us overcome 
the difficult market situation at present.

For MAN Ferrostaal, 2008 was marked by the acquisition of a 
majority shareholding in our company by IPIC (International 

Petroleum Investment Company) from Abu Dhabi. With business 
effect retroactive to January 1, 2008, IPIC took over 70% of our 
shares from MAN Aktiengesellschaft. The MAN Group continues 
to hold 30% of the shares in the company. MAN Ferrostaal will 
continue to be managed as an independent company in the cur-
rent structure by the existing management team.

The previous investments of IPIC span the regions of the Mid-
dle East, North Africa, Europe and Asia. IPIC also plans to invest 
increasingly in Abu Dhabi, however. The company sees itself as 
a long-term investor and has yet to divest of any holdings since 
its establishment in 1984. IPIC focuses above all on oil refining, 
petrochemical, pipeline and power plant sectors – all of which 
are business areas that MAN Ferrostaal covers. Cooperation 
will also extend to the new Solar business segment and to the 
Service platform.

IPIC is investing in MAN Ferrostaal because our company brings 
technical and industrial know-how in our core areas, from 
which IPIC would like to benefit. The participation also enables 
IPIC to broaden its own portfolio in specific areas. There are 
many potential synergies with the other holdings of IPIC, which 
will also create joint business opportunities.

The participation of IPIC in our company enables our expansion 
to take on a new dimension, as our biggest shareholder will 
also be a major client to a large degree. Not only can we support 
IPIC in the development and implementation of their projects, 
but, as a company that operates on an international scale, we 
can also open doors to many new markets. IPIC’s participation 
permits MAN Ferrostaal to pursue a long-term strategy of 
further development – the company’s expanded presence in the 
MENA region. We anticipate an increase in the number of jobs 
in order to be able to handle all of the projects currently taking 
shape. With IPIC as our owner, MAN Ferrostaal will also be even 
more attractive to German and European companies seeking 
to establish themselves in the markets of the Middle East and 
North Africa. In this respect, we want to serve as a future bridge 
to the Emirates.

Significant business events of 2008
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In fiscal 2008, earnings before interest and taxes totalled 167 
million euros (previous year: 179 million euros). Revenue 

increased to 1,640 million euros (previous year: 1,445 million 
euros) and order intake totalling 1,836 million euros was also 
significantly above the level of the previous year (1,556 million 
euros). The 2,578 million euros in orders on hand at the end of 
2008 represented a further increase over the excellent level of 
the previous year (previous year: 2,415 million euros). Net liquid 
assets also showed positive development to a level of 653 mil-
lion euros (previous year: 601 million euros) and the equity 
ratio improved to 19.4 percent (previous year: 15.6 percent).

Operating profit at a high level
At 167 million euros, earnings before interest and taxes remained 
as expected below the exceptionally high level of the previous 
year (179 million euros). This is nonetheless the second-best 
result achieved in the history of the company. The decline is for 
the most part attributable to large-scale plant construction the 
profit contribution of which remained somewhat below the 
very high level of the previous year, and to reduced revenue in 
our machinery business due to the financial crisis. Participation 
in companies operating methanol and ammonia plants, on the 
other hand, had a positive effect. We continued to earn income 
from provisions that were no longer needed. In the service busi-
ness, earnings increased once again, in spite of the problems 
in the machinery business. Our activities here made a stable, 
continually growing contribution to success. Our corporate 
restructuring measures are also having a positive effect on 
results. In the past few years, we have taken business operations 
that posted weak results or losses and realigned them, thereby 
significantly improving profitability in these areas.

The net profit for the year fell from 156 million euros to 100 
million euros. This is due in part to an increased tax rate. The 
increase in the tax rate from 18.5 percent to 31.6 percent is the 
result of additional tax payments from audits and from write-
downs of deferred tax assets from loss carryforwards. The de-
cline in earnings from discontinued operations is attributable 
to necessary write-downs to lower market values.

Healthy return indicators
The return on sales (ROS) of the MAN Ferrostaal Group was 10.2 
percent and therefore, as expected, below the value of the previ-
ous year (12.4 percent). Return on sales (ROS) and return on capi-
tal employed (ROCE) are the most important indicators used 
to assess economic success in the MAN Ferrostaal subgroup. 
Our company recorded a slightly increased return on capital 

of 37.3 percent compared with 36.9 percent in 2007. This figure 
is derived from operating profit totalling 167 million euros and 
an average capital employed totalling 447 million euros. MAN 
Value Added is the financial parameter that shows whether the 
MAN Ferrostaal Group has earned its capital costs and generat-
ed supplementary added value. The MAN Value Added achieved 
in 2008 was 118 million euros (previous year: 126 million euros). 
Free cash flow was significantly lower than last year. Net liquid 
assets were nonetheless increased to 653 million euros.

Significant increase in order intake
In fiscal year 2008, the order intake of the MAN Ferrostaal Group 
totalled 1,836 million euros, which was 18 percent above the level 
of the previous year (1,556 million euros).

The majority of orders come from the Projects division, where 
we have received orders amounting to 1,251 million euros (previ-
ous year: 849 million euros). This increase is attributable to, 
among other things, the receipt of an order for two power plants 
in Venezuela. 

The order intake in the Services division totalled 585 million eu-
ros and was therefore below the level of the previous year (707 
million euros). This decrease was expected and is basically due 
to the unusually high level of order intake of the previous year 
in the Merchant Marine business unit.

The largest share of the order intake of MAN Ferrostaal in 2008 
was generated outside of Germany (85 percent). Major contribut-
ing regions are Latin America with 51 percent, the MENA states 
with 9 percent and the EU (excluding Germany) with 7 percent. 
Germany received 15 percent of order intake.

Increased level of orders on hand
Orders on hand increased by 7 percent versus the level of the 
previous year and totalled 2,578 million euros (previous year: 
2,415 million euros), thereby exceeding the very high level of 
the previous year once again. As of December 31, 2008 the 
Projects division had orders on hand totalling 1,738 million euros 
versus 1,443 million euros in the previous year. The Services 
division had orders on hand totalling 841 million euros versus 
972 million euros in the previous year. For reasons of account-
ing, the orders on hand in the Governmental business unit have 
decreased significantly, but remain at a high level.

Sales, order situation and profitability
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Revenue higher once again
The revenue of the MAN Ferrostaal Group developed satisfactori-
ly and stood at 1,640 million euros, 14 percent above the compa-
rable value of the previous year (1,445 million euros). The Projects 
division in particular contributed to this positive trend. The net 
sales achieved here were 921 million euros and 33 percent above 
the value of the previous year (694 million euros). The Services 
division generated sales of 719 million euros, which was slightly 
below the level of the previous year (751 million euros).

In 2008, the largest share of net sales was generated outside 
of Germany (83 percent). The most important contributing 
regions were Latin America with 45 percent, the MENA region 
with 11 percent and the EU (excluding Germany) with 9 percent. 
Germany generated 17 percent of the total net sales achieved.

Cash flows

Net liquid assets increased from 601 million euros in the 
previous year to 653 million euros in 2008.

Although the prepayments received decreased by 186 million 
euros for accounting reasons, free cash flow is positive again 
this year at 53 million euros. Working capital increased accord-
ingly as a result of the decrease in prepayments received. The 
increase in other liabilities is attributable to initial payments of 
a major customer. Those initial payments balanced out the flow 
of the prepayments received to a large extent. These payments 

would have to be returned in case the final financing negotia-
tions for this order failed unexpectedly.

The cash flow from investment activities, with a net cash used 
of 3 million euros, was near the level of the previous year. As a 
result of lower payouts, cash flow from financing activities im-
proved compared to the previous year from –32 million euros 
to –12 million euros.

As a result of the net profit for the year, the equity ratio im-
proved from 15.6 to 19.4 percent. Non-current fixed assets 

were covered up to 94 percent (in the previous year: 80.9 per-
cent) by equity and, as in the previous year, completely covered 
by equity and non-current liabilities.

The balance sheet total of the group rose by 5.6 percent. The 
increase in the value of the shareholdings accounted according 
to the equity method results principally from the share of the 
profits of the ammonia and methanol companies on Trinidad 
and in Oman. The increase in accounts receivable corresponds 
with the increase in the net sales. Non-current liabilities and 

provisions are, like current liabilities and provisions, at the 
level of the previous year.

Financial position
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Despite the financial and economic crisis, the economic 
situation of MAN Ferrostaal and the outlook for the com-

pany are positive, especially in the areas of oil and gas/petro-
chemicals, energy and solar. Above all against the background of 
the investment by IPIC in our company, we expect significant 
business growth in the medium and long term. As a state-
owned enterprise from Abu Dhabi, IPIC is less dependent on 
project financing than other market players and can take 
investment decisions on its own. Thanks to its extensive supply 
of natural resources and its visionary investment policies, the 
country is less dependent than other states and can therefore 
adopt a counter-cyclical and long-term approach. The role of 
MAN Ferrostaal, together with the other holdings of IPIC, is to 
support the realisation of investments and to open the door for 
new investment opportunities.

Specifically, IPIC management plans to involve MAN Ferrostaal 
in carrying out its own current projects. One example of this  
now taking shape is the construction of one of the world’s largest 
chemical complexes in Abu Dhabi, “Chemaweyaat”, with an 
annual production capacity of seven million tonnes of petro-
chemical products. The complex is planned for an investment 
value in the range of fifty to seventy billion US dollars. It will  
be built in the new “Chemicals Industrial City”. The so-called 
Chemaweyaat Complex 1 Tacaamol will produce olefins, aromat-
ics and derivatives of ammonia.

To that end, we are now in the process of establishing a com-
pany in Abu Dhabi together with IPIC, the workforce of which 
will grow to 500 employees in the coming years. The planning 
for these activities calls for the involvement of our subsidiary in 
Libya, where our current workforce of over 650 employees will 
grow to over 1,000 in the medium term.

Close cooperation with IPIC is also planned beyond the bounda-
ries of the MENA region, in projects in Central Asia, for exam-
ple. We have been active for many years here, where, along with 
our know-how in the petrochemicals area, we can apply our spe-
cific experience and knowledge of local conditions.

Along with our activities for IPIC, we expect further growth 
above all from our petrochemicals and energy business areas in 
the coming years. In certain respects, both areas hold great 
potential and backlog demand, especially in the regions where 
we have traditionally had a strong presence.

In the renewables fields, especially solar energy, we expect 
heavy political emphasis on environmental issues in many 
large economies will soon outweigh the current reticence, 
leading to the continuation and expansion of original planning. 
Many countries intend to reduce CO2 emissions substantially, 
and this will lead to the promotion above all of solar energy. In 
this field, we concentrate primarily on the Middle East/North 
Africa, Southern Europe and the USA, where the climatic 
conditions for the production of solar power are excellent.

The international financial crisis is putting a strain on econom-
ic development all over the world, so we expect weaker global 
economic growth in the coming months. While the outlook in 
the strategic areas of plant construction is good, we expect 
business development in the Services division to stagnate over 
the next 12 to 18 months. In the best case scenario, the trend 
here will be moderately positive. This area is highly dependent 
on the worldwide financial and economic crisis, the future 
course of which remains too uncertain at the present time. We 
assume, however, that even substantial declines in this sector 
can be largely compensated by the positive development of the 
other strategic areas.

With respect to order intake and revenue in 2009, we expect to 
repeat the level of 2008. Our operating profit in 2009 is expected 
to be less than that of the previous year. The downturn is largely 
due to the Services division where, due to invoice settlement 
requirements, we were able to post exceptionally high profits in 
the Governmental business unit in the past fiscal year.

Depending on the course of the financial and economic crisis, 
we expect 2010 will bring a general and continuous increase in 
our positive business development and therefore a sustained 
increase in order intake, revenue and operating profit. Overall, 
we intend to raise the business volume of our company to four 
billion euros within the next five years. Against the background 
of our partnership with IPIC, we are confident that we will be 
able to achieve this goal.

Outlook
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In the past year, our business activities in the Projects division 
were characterised by large-scale projects that we developed 

or in which we made further progress toward completion.

Petrochemicals
At present, the group’s largest project falls within Petrochemi-
cals and concerns the turnkey construction of a petrochemicals 
complex in Point Lisas, Trinidad, for the production of ammo-
nia, urea ammonia nitrate and melamine (AUM). The project, the 
order for which was placed by the customer Methanol Holdings 
(Trinidad) Limited (MHTL) in 2006, has an investment volume 
of 1.5 billion US dollars. The order volume for MAN Ferrostaal is 
1.1 billion US dollars.

The complex comprises seven individual plants, which will be 
completed at different points in time. At the end of Decem-
ber 2008, the overall progress of the project was ahead of the 
contractual schedule at ninety-percent completion. Comple-
tion of the entire facility is planned for the end of 2009. The 
new complex represents the continuation of an extraordinarily 
successful collaboration with our partners in Trinidad, with 
whom we have already realised six plants with an investment 
volume of two billion US dollars. Once the complex is complete, 
the total investment of the plants that we will have been able 
to implement in Trinidad will be around 3.5 billion US dollars. 
Our company holds what amounts to a twenty-percent share in 
the client company MHTL, which has made a positive contribu-
tion to earnings in years past. The AUM complex represents an 
expansion of the product range of MHTL, and serves to realise 
growth opportunities, and reduce the risks that result from a 
small product portfolio.

Another large-scale project that was under development in 
2008 is the turnkey construction of a fertiliser plant in Moron, 
Venezuela. This project has a total value of 1.5 billion US dollars 
and was launched at the end of 2007. We are carrying it out as 
part of a consortium with our engineering partner Toyo (Japan) 
and with VEC (Venezuela), our construction partner. The MAN 
Ferrostaal share is 542 million US dollars and relates to the con-
struction of the ammonia plant. The neighbouring urea plant is 
being designed by Toyo, and VEC is handling the utilities.

In 2008, we handed over a refinery to our customer ENAP (Em-
presa Nacional de Petróleo) in Chile. A so-called ‘delayed coker’, 
the refinery is used to refine heavy oil into light oils, fuels, pe-
troleum coke and refinery gases. This project, which we carried 
out in a consortium with Foster Wheeler Iberia and Tecnicas 

Reunidas, has already won international recognition for its 
intelligent financing structure. Each of the consortium partners 
has a 17-percent stake alongside ENAP (49%), and an interna-
tional banking syndicate provided debt capital. As it lowers the 
import quota for light oils and therefore expensive crude oils, 
this project is of major financial significance to our customer. 
Now the country can increasingly turn to the importation of 
less expensive heavy oils. Moreover, the lower sulphur content 
of the refinery products is extremely important to Chile from 
the standpoint of environmental policy.

Biofuels and renewable resources
In 2008, we continued to expand our Biofuels business. All 
biofuels activities of our company are now concentrated at 
the Geisenheim site. Our first biodiesel plant has an annual 
capacity of 100,000 tonnes and is located at the Katowice site 
in Poland. In our role as general contractor, we worked together 
closely with our Polish engineering partner Prochem during 
construction. Our customer J&S Bioenergy B.V. placed an order 
for a second biodiesel plant in Amsterdam, Holland. That plant is 
being designed for a capacity of 200,000 tonnes per annum. The 
investment volume of the two plants is 70 million euros.

Since 2008, we have been engaged in the development of a 
project for the construction of a timber processing complex in 
the Krasnoyarsk region of Russia. Four plants are to be built in 
Boguchany, including a pulp and lumber mill, the construction 
of which is to be taken over by MAN Ferrostaal. The foundation 
stone for this industrial complex has already been laid, but 
the project remains subject to the conclusion of the relevant 
agreements. KrasLesInvest has commissioned our Canadian 
investee company KSH Solutions to carry out a feasibility study 
regarding the technical implementation, and we are reviewing 
the financial feasibility. Should the results prove positive, the 
project is to move to the contract definition phase.

Industrial Projects
At the end of 2008, we booked an order for the construction of 
two gas-steam power plants on Lake Maracaibo in Venezuela. 
The client is ENELVEN, the state energy supplier of the Ven-
ezuelan region of Zulia. Together, the two power plants will feed 
more than 1,000 megawatts to the power grid of the country. 
Under the leadership of our fully-owned subsidiary Koch de 
Portugal, MAN Ferrostaal serves together with our subsidiary in 
Venezuela as general contractor for the complete EPC (engineer-
ing, procurement, construction) scope of the two plants. The 
order volume is 737 million euros. The longstanding presence of 

Business development – Projects
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MAN Ferrostaal in Venezuela and our experience with previ-
ous projects in the country played a key role in winning the 
contract. ENELVEN places importance on a high degree of local 
content, which we are able to provide through our Venezuelan 
subsidiary. Up to 1,000 jobs will be created in connection with 
the completion of the two power plants. These new positions 
will be filled by professionals from the region. This is the second 
large-scale project to be carried out by MAN Ferrostaal for ENEL-
VEN. The Termozulia I power plant, which we had modernised 
and expanded to a gas-steam combined cycle power plant, was 
handed over to our customer in June 2007.

In 2008, we completed the turnkey expansion of an 830-mega-
watt gas-steam power plant in Fajr, Iran. We handed the plant 
over to our customer and obtained the acceptance certificate 
for this 75-million-euro order. Project implementation suffered 
from delays that were largely due to the embargo against Iran.

Industrial Plants
In Industrial Plants, we continued to be particularly success-
ful in winning new orders in Libya. A framework agreement 
to increase the capacity of two oil fields was signed with the 
customer Akakus/Repsol. Our share of the goods and services 
to be provided comprises the planning and implementation of 
110 new wells along with increasing the pressure in 50 existing 
wells, including all associated infrastructural measures. Imple-
mentation of the first delivery package to be supplied began 
this year. In the Wafa field in Libya, we are installing three new 
flow lines and extending an existing collection station on an 
EPC (engineering, procurement, construction) basis for the cus-
tomer Mellitah/ENI. For the customer AGOCO, we succeeded, 
among other things, in winning a contract to lay several pipe-
lines in the Nafoora field. We also took construction orders from 
other long-time customers, such as Veba/Harouge. Our plant in 
Libya, which employed a workforce of 650 employees in 2008, 
is operating at full capacity with the existing orders.

We were also able to win significant orders again from various 
companies in the Sonatrach Group in Algeria. We are supplying 
a hydrochloric acid plant (HCI 33%) to ENIP (Entreprise Nationale 
des Industries Pétrochimiques), for example, and an instrument 
air plant to NAFTEC (Société Nationale de Raffinage de Pétrole).

At the same time, our customers in the MENA region have placed 
orders with us for a series of procurement packages. Of particu-
lar note in this connection are supplies for the customer Kavian 
Petrochemical Co. for an olefin complex in Iran, component 

packages for the Iranian company PIDEC for use in the Abadan 
refinery and scopes of procurement for our Syrian customer Al 
Furat Petroleum Co.

An important project launched in 2008 was for a manufactur-
ing line for CNG cylinders in Orsk, Russia. Our customer, OAO 
Mechanical Plant, plans to produce 200,000 cylinders per year 
for use in gas-powered vehicles. As the general contractor for 
this project, we have arranged long-term financing for it with 
international banks. Smaller orders were also booked in Algeria, 
Morocco and Iran.

The processing of orders on hand proceeded according to plan. 
The major project to build an aluminium smelter in Iran, for 
example, concluded with the completion of the last subsection.
Quotation activities were focused on the MENA and CIS regions. 
In markets such as Qatar, Jordan and Iraq, we were able to use 
quotations to position ourselves in the market, and we expect 
to generate the corresponding order intake in 2009.

Solar
In the Solar business unit the financial crisis has slowed sales 
activities. We had expected to book our first major incoming 
order of 2008 by mid-year, but starting from the middle of 
the year, we observed that the deteriorating credit situation 
was leading to increasingly apparent reticence on the part of 
the banks that were to provide the financing. Early works have 
already commenced nevertheless for the planned 50-megawatt 
Andasol 3 parabolic collector power plant, which we would like 
to build with our joint venture partner, Solar Millennium.

Initial component orders have been placed with suppliers. De-
signed to supply solar power for up to 200,000 people, Andasol 
3 is to be built in the south of Spain (Andalusia) alongside its 
two (identical) sister projects, Andasol 1 and Andasol 2, Europe’s 
first parabolic trough power plants. Thermal storage facilities will 
enable the plant to feed eco-friendly electricity into the Span-
ish high-tension power grid even after dusk. All three Andasol 
projects were developed by our joint venture partner Solar 
Millennium AG and are among the largest sites dedicated to the 
use of solar energy.

The pilot plant of our investee company Solar Power Group at 
the Plataforma Solar research centre in Almeria, Spain, com-
pleted its test phase very successfully. The plant demonstrated 
impressive performance, consistently producing steam at 450 °C 
and 100 bar under stable operating conditions. The testing was 
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carried out as planned in order to implement additional techni-
cal improvements. This work was conducted in cooperation 
with the glass manufacturer Schott, DLR (German Aerospace 
Centre) and the Fraunhofer Institute.

Solar cooling and steam production with solar energy repre-
sent a growing market. In 2008, our investee company Solitem 
invested heavily in the development of a new line of collectors 
(third generation) and made great progress in production. This 
made it possible to achieve a dramatic reduction in the number 
of individual components used in the collectors, for example, 
which improves cost-effectiveness considerably. The third-gen-
eration collectors will operate at efficiencies of well over sixty 

percent. These collectors are scheduled to go into serial produc-
tion in the first half of 2009. In 2008, the basis was created 
for establishing the commercial distribution of solar cooling 
plants. We expect the first sales in 2009.

In the development of solar projects, we concentrate on the 
regions of Southern Europe, MENA and the USA. We have de-
veloped innovative market entry strategies for this in coop-
eration with a suitable consulting firm. For our company, it is 
important to find strategic investors who are also interested in 
on-balance sheet financing.

In the Services division, we were able to demonstrate good 
business development in the first half of the year, but then 

suffered downturns in two of five business segments during the 
remainder of the year. Business development in the other three 
business segments was stable.

Automotive
The Automotive business unit is very closely tied to the business 
situation of the carmakers in Europe, as we basically provide 
Just-in-Sequence delivery to the car manufacturers (OEMs). 
Partly located within our customers’ factories and partly outside 
them, the major share of our added value consists of assembling 
individual components in complete modules. We deliver these 
modules at intervals matched to the production on the assembly 
lines of the OEMs. For this reason, our business depends directly 
on the production workflows and volumes of our customers – 
without buffers or other compensating factors.

The international financial crisis and the significantly weaken-
ing economic situation have had a negative effect on passenger 
car sales in Europe. At 14.7 million vehicles, eight percent fewer 
new passenger cars were registered in 2008, whereby the situa-
tion dramatically deteriorated above all during the second half 
of the year. Whereas sales fell by only three percent during the 
first half of the year, they plummeted by fifteen percent in the 
second half. In the fourth quarter, our clients tried to meet the 

simultaneous challenges of the declining demand and consider-
ably increased inventories. Rather than slow their rates of pro-
duction, the OEMs were more generally inclined to focus their 
efforts on reacting to the dramatically deteriorating situation as 
flexibly as possible by means of complete weeks of production 
downtime. And we, in turn, also adapted to these new condi-
tions as flexibly as possible.

Equipment
In the Equipment business unit, business development in 2008 
lagged significantly behind our expectations. Our function in 
this area, which originates from commercial trade, is that of a 
central service provider. We take over financing, distribution, 
delivery and start-up, spare parts service, after-sales and the 
supply of consumables, thereby covering every part of the value 
added chain which is of importance of machines for our cus-
tomers, the industrial companies after the actual manufacture.

Printing and publishing, which is the most important sector 
within the Equipment segment, initially held out good business 
prospects following Drupa, the leading trade fair in that industry. 
But tighter lending practices of many banks then caused our 
markets to react with caution. For this reason, many of the origi-
nally anticipated incoming orders failed to materialise. Against 
this background, it appeared fortunate that we had started early in 
our efforts to develop and acquire new business in neighbouring 

Business development – Services
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sectors. The areas of food and beverages, packaging and plastics, 
in particular, on which the provision of basic supplies relies to 
some extent, react to short-term developments more moderately 
than the printing and publishing sector does.

Within our business model, the performance of these areas is 
complementary to that of the printing industry: the correspond-
ing services are a local business and are carried out locally – 
which demands a local presence on our part. This is why we can 
use our well-established global sales and service organisation 
to develop these areas easily and without significant additional 
cost. In 2008, we concluded supplemental supply agreements 
and in some cases exclusive distribution agreements with major 
manufacturers such as Werner & Pfleiderer (food), Rovema (pack-
aging) and Reifenhäuser (plastics) in this way. We successfully 
established this horizontal integration for all basic target markets 
in which we were already active: Latin America, South East Asia, 
MENA and Russia.

In 2008, we made key deliveries in all regions of importance to 
us: in Latin America, this was to Brazil, with a Geoman web offset 
press from manroland, and to Peru, with a Lithoman magazine 
press from manroland. In South East Asia, we installed three 
web offset presses from the Indian manufacturer Manugraph 
comprising 24 towers, and we delivered a Geoman web office 
press and a Lithoman magazine press to South Africa. In addition 
to this, we shipped a series of food and (plastic) extruders to the 
MENA region, South East Asia and Latin America. We also con-
tinued to be successful in China with the delivery of aluminium 
foil rolling mills from the supplier Achenbach. The final product, 
six-micrometer-thick aluminium foil, is ultimately used in the 
packaging industry.

Piping
We were able to significantly expand our services and the scope 
of our businesses in the Piping business unit in 2008. Business 
development in this area follows longer cycles comparable to the 
ones typically seen in plant construction. As a supplier of pipe 
and piping accessories, we are active in the markets for pipelines, 
plant construction and industrial equipment. Here we work with 
a large number of suppliers, thereby enabling us to cover the 
entire product spectrum that our customers require. In the Pip-
ing segment, we primarily serve the markets in MENA, Eastern 
Europe and Europe.

In the Industrial Plants segment, for example, we made exten-
sive deliveries for an air separation plant (Pearl) in Qatar. The 

plant, for which we are providing the complete piping, is part of 
a chemical complex that will produce 140,000 barrels of liquid 
hydrocarbons per day (mainly fuels) upon completion. In con-
nection with the construction of a large fertiliser plant in Algeria, 
we won the order for delivery of 4,000 tonnes of piping materi-
als and accessories. The plant, which is located 350 kilometres to 
the northwest of Algiers, represents an investment volume of 
over two billion US dollars. For the first time, we also booked 
an order from Egypt for the delivery of piping materials. The 
businesses in the MENA region are transacted through Dubai, 
where we opened a new office – as we did in St. Petersburg – in 
order to be in the best possible position to address local needs. 
In Eastern Europe/Central Asia, we successfully carried out two 
pipeline projects in 2008. Here we delivered 16- and 20-inch-
diameter transfer pipelines of 20 and 45 kilometres in length.

Along with these projects, we also successfully expanded our 
business in Europe, especially in Spain and France. Moreover, 
we intensified our service business in which we supply crane 
manufacturers with piping materials for the manufacture of 
mobile cranes and dockside cargo cranes.

Governmental
In the Governmental business unit, we concentrate on the 
processing of offset obligations resulting from the sale of 
investment and military goods to state institutions.

In 2008, all but a small remaining portion of our offset business in 
South Africa, which we have actively promoted in recent years, was 
successfully concluded and settled. The implementation of this 
project, which was linked to the sale of three submarines to the 
South African Department of Defence, represents our company’s 
largest offset project to date. The scope of the offset was around 
three billion euros.

This project makes the strategy that we are pursuing in this 
business segment clear. Whereas an offset is generally viewed as a 
necessary evil, we use it as a tool for active business development. 
In South Africa, for example, we make use of business develop-
ment through offsets by leveraging our meanwhile well-estab-
lished presence in South Africa to pursue projects in the Solar and 
Biofuels segments in the neighbouring SADC (Southern African 
Development Community) countries. These projects are directly 
linked with our strategic orientation toward renewables and the 
growth prospects associated with them. At the same time, they 
require a solid base of operations in southern Africa, for which the 
Republic of South Africa is the best conceivable location.
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Another example for this type of business engineering is our 
acquisition of Koch de Portugal Lda. In 2006, in connection 
with the sale of submarines to Portugal, we took over the 
Portuguese plant construction company Koch de Portugal. Tied 
to the additional business for Portuguese companies that the 
Portuguese government expected of MAN Ferrostaal, we were 
able to win a contract for the construction of two power plants 
in Venezuela in 2008, which will be led by Koch de Portugal on a 
consortium basis within the MAN Ferrostaal Group. Thus the  
effect that our commitment in Portugal has on the Portuguese 
economy is just as positive as it is for our own company.

Merchant Marine
In the Merchant Marine segment, we christened the “Wappen 
von Augsburg”, the latest and last in a series of twelve SCOT 
(Safety Chemical Oil Tanker) ships. With this order we plan 
to end our participation in the market for the construction of 
chemical tankers. In future, we intend to concentrate on the 
construction of ships and equipment for the offshore sector. 
Having already initiated the orientation toward products for the 
offshore industry in 2007, we developed this strategy further in 
2008 and handed over the second 200-tonne tug to our custom-
er. Two tugs with a towing strength of 100 tonnes for the trans-
port of drilling platforms and one tug with a towing strength 
of 280 tonnes were under construction in 2008. In addition, we 
worked on the construction of two platform supply vessels in 
2008, which are specially designed to supply drilling platforms.

Acquisitions and divestitures

During fiscal 2008, the company undertook no major acqui-
sitions or divestitures.

Supplementary report

As of the date on which the balance sheet was prepared, the 
executive board of the company is unaware of any events 

of special significance that occurred after fiscal year-end.
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The knowledge and abilities of our workforce is the most 
important capital for our long-term business success. Only 

exceptionally qualified employees can ensure that customers, 
investors and business partners will also rely on MAN Ferrostaal 
to implement their projects in the future. And this requires pro-
fessional personnel management.

In 2008, the number of employees of MAN Ferrostaal includ-
ing temporary employees rose to 4,845 people, which was an 
increase of 158 people (3%) over the previous year. The basic 
factors behind the increase in the number of employees were 
the creation of new positions and the expansion of the strate-
gic recruitment and development of young professionals. The 
number of permanent employees increased by 256 to 4,431 
people, while the number of temporary employees fell by 98 to 
414 people.

In the Projects division, the number of employees remained 
nearly constant (1,180 vs. 1,176 employees in the previous year). 
Here the newly created positions in existing companies and in 
the establishment of MAN Contrucciones y Montajes de Ven-
ezuela S.A. (111 employees) roughly offset the loss of jobs due to 
the closure of DSD Mexico (40 employees) and of SLS Services 
GmbH in Saarlouis, Germany (136 employees).

In the Services division, the number of employees rose by 112 
people (4%) to 3,257 employees (previous year: 3,145). In particu-

lar, the acquisition of the companies Industrial Plant & Services 
Australia Pty. Ltd. (30 employees) in Australia and Eurocom in 
Chile (16 employees), both of which are active in the machinery 
business, contributed to this increase.

Purchasing, personnel and legal functions of the operating units 
were bundled synergistically into the relevant corporate functions 
of the general services area. Additional managers and employees 
with outstanding qualifications were hired in the course of further 
professionalisation. In particular, the number of graduate and 
student trainees was increased significantly in the context of the 
strategic recruitment and development of young professionals. 
Taken all together, this raised the number of employees in the 
general services area to 408 (previous year: 366).

Employee and management development
MAN Ferrostaal goes to great lengths to provide existing em-
ployees with advanced training and to develop their potential 
and talents. A uniform performance and potential management 
process (Leadership Supply) has been established throughout 
the company for this purpose.

Along with on-the-job advanced training, the employees 
have access to a broad spectrum of certified advanced train-
ing courses. One of the focal points here is the certification 
of our employees within the framework of an internationally 
recognised project management qualification, which we have 

Workforce

As at 31/12/2008

Year     2008  2007 Difference

Employees including temporary employees     4,845  4,687 158

Projects     1,180  1,176 4

Services     3,257  3,145 112

Headquarters     408  366 42

Headcount     4,431  4,175 256

Germany     2,238  2,229 17

Abroad     2,193  1,946 239

Temporary employees     414  512 –98

Germany     379  419 –40

Abroad     35  93 –58

Employees including temporary employees     4,845  4,687 158

Germany     2,617  2,648 –23

Abroad     2,228  2,039 218

Labour cost in € million     223  216 7 

Labour cost per employee in €     50,429  51,715 –1,286 

Trainees (not included in the headcount)     67  56 11
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consistently carried out and expanded as a basic qualification 
for young professionals and project-based employees. At the 
present time, 154 of our employees around the world are under-
taking project management qualification. Six employees have 
already obtained the highest qualification as Certified Projects 
Director (IPMA Level A).

Strategic recruitment and development of young professionals
The recruitment of well-trained young professionals is the 
basis for a healthy personnel structure. In order to support the 
growth targets, we significantly expanded our young profes-
sional programmes in 2008. In this context, the number of 
trainees rose to 67, which represents a twenty percent increase 
over the previous year. Of particular note in our training is 
the newly integrated international training module “Global 
Mindset”. MAN Ferrostaal is one of the few major companies to 

offer its trainees the opportunity to already serve three months 
abroad during the training period – a model for success that 
earned first place in MAN AG’s Best Practice Awards in Decem-
ber 2008. In addition, one of MAN Ferrostaal’s trainees was 
honoured as North Rhine-Westphalia’s Best Trainee of 2008 in 
the speciality area of wholesale and foreign trade (Chamber of 
Industry and Commerce).

In parallel to the training programme, the number of graduate 
trainees hired (17) nearly doubled versus the previous year (9). 
Here the share of international participants in the programme 
increased significantly to forty percent. The range of available 
work-study programmes in Germany and abroad was considera-
bly expanded in order to generate enthusiasm for the company 
among outstanding university graduates already during the 
course of their studies.

The aim of MAN Ferrostaal’s risk management is to identify the 
risks of operational business activities early, to recognise the 

consequences of accepting risks, to manage risks that potentially 
endanger success, and to avoid risks that endanger the company’s 
existence. The MAN Risk Management Handbook represents the 
normative basis for this function, the details of which are speci-
fied in a series of further procedures (including, among others, the 
“Large-scale projects and major orders” procedure). A Risk Manage-
ment Handbook provides MAN Ferrostaal with specific regulations 
for the management and control of risk, thereby ensuring full 
compliance with the statutory requirements defined in the German 
Control and Transparency in Business Act (KonTraG). All risks that 
could perceptibly influence net assets, financial position and results 
of operations and financial performance and prevent the company 
from achieving defined goals or successfully implementing strate-
gies are catalogued.

Especially in large-scale plant construction, but also in the Serv-
ice division, the responsible handling of opportunities and risks 
is of crucial importance. A key factor in the sustainable success 
of our company is transparency and communication concerning 
risks and opportunities, their identification, assessment and early 
incorporation in decision-making processes. The one principle to 

which all others are subordinate is to make use of opportunities 
and to accept the associated risks only when, having taken the 
required monitoring and control measures into account, a rea-
sonable contribution toward increasing the value of the company 
can be expected. Orders may be accepted only when the risks to 
be assumed are counterbalanced by reasonable prospects and 
the risks are manageable. For this reason, risk management is a 
management task. For operational purposes, risk management is 
handled by a service unit of the same name.

Principles of the risk management system
MAN Ferrostaal’s risk management system covers all directly and 
indirectly managed investee companies. The risks are identified 
on a cross-company basis and intensively discussed by the Risk 
Board, the central control, management and monitoring instance 
composed of experts from the operational areas and staff 
departments. Owing to the country-specific nature of many risks, 
these are initially assessed by the relevant national and interna-
tional business units. As a uniform tool, risks are recorded 
quarterly in a standardised risk catalogue and analysed with 
regard to the prospective amount of damage they may cause, 
their probability of occurring and their potential economic 
impacts. This ensures that possible risks are reported early to the 

Risk management
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Executive Board, the Supervisory Board and the owner.
Agreed risk mitigation measures are consistently applied. An ad 
hoc reporting system ensures that significant and threatening 
risks are also reported outside of the quarterly cycles and imme-
diately incorporated into the risk management process.

We address the special requirements of the project business 
via a specific project management system, which includes a 
multi-level monitoring and approval procedure. Depending on 
the type and complexity of the transaction, a structured series 
of approval steps and project meetings are used to record and 
manage possible opportunities and risks systematically during 
each project phase. Prior to the submission of a binding quota-
tion or the conclusion of an agreement, projects are subjected 
to detailed review by specialists from different departments 
in order to avoid the adoption of high-risk projects. The Risk 
Management department is intensively involved in this process 
and controls basic individual steps.

In order to ensure the functionality and efficiency of the risk 
management process, internal audit conducts regular reviews 
that critically examine the risk management instruments used 
by our company, thereby constructively contributing to the 
continuous improvement of the tools we use. MAN AG’s audit 
group also carries out checks on a random sample basis – at 
construction sites, for example – in order to verify the practical 
implementation of the measures.

All identifiable risks in connection with ongoing business have 
been taken into account from a balance sheet standpoint, pro-
vided the necessary prerequisites for this were met.

Opportunity and risk areas
Various opportunities and risks that can affect the financial 
position, cash flows and financial performance of our company 
are presented below:

Market
Owing to the company’s international orientation, MAN Ferrostaal 
is subject to a wide range of complex market risks. This interna-
tional character also offers opportunities. Thanks to variations in 
the development of local markets and their phase-delayed busi-
ness cycles, we are in a position to use our presence in different 
industries and countries to compensate for risks. This results in a 
more stable business development.

The price policy of individual competitors can also carry risks. 
In order to circumvent a ruinous competitive environment for 
the Projects division, MAN Ferrostaal concentrates on develop-
ing and implementing projects with partners and on support-
ing highly attractive projects with equity. This business model 
enables us to achieve substantial margins. In particular, we are 
strengthening our participation in investments that remain 
sound – investments in power plant and infrastructure projects 
and in petrochemical refining processing facilities in the oil 
and gas industry. The volatility of raw and basic material prices, 
especially in the case of ammonia and methanol, carries both 
opportunities and risks regarding the development of the op-
erating companies in which we have invested and that we have 
recorded at equity.

We also work with a similar model in the Services division. We 
counter the price risk by offering attractive overall concepts, 
which can include financing or counter-trades. In this way, we 
are also developing a particularly friendly and collegial relation-
ship with our customers here.

Political developments
MAN Ferrostaal’s strategic target markets are situated in the 
world’s growth regions. Some of the emerging countries in 
those regions suffer from political instability. Notwithstanding 
this, our market knowledge in these countries has been built up 
in some cases over the course of several decades. Our local pres-
ence offers us profound insights into such presumably high-
risk regions, thereby enabling us to react in a timely fashion. 
In this respect, the political risks are assessable and can also be 
compensated to some extent through export risk coverage.

Execution of projects
Order-related execution risks are intensively monitored by 
means of the project management and risk management 
system described above. The essential aspects here are contract 
formulation and technical and commercial execution of orders. 
Failure to manage order execution adequately can cause delays 
and added costs, which have a negative impact on the profit 
generated by an order. Along with monthly order reports and 
project meetings, we use a computer-aided project controlling 
system that ensures process quality throughout the course of 
the project and order execution.

It is also particularly important for us to work with partners who 
provide us with access to tried-and-tested methods and technol-
ogies – trusted partners with whom we have built up a long-term 
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relationship in many cases. In addition, our subcontractors must 
regularly undergo stringent quality and credit assessments.

Financing risks
As we generate over eighty percent of our sales from interna-
tional business, we are exposed to non-negligible currency and 
financing risks. Where invoicing in euros cannot be negotiated 
or procurement in foreign currency cannot be avoided, we 
apply active financial management to minimise the resulting 
risks. Along with cross-currency swaps, this includes the moni-
toring of the world’s currency markets, credit checks, coopera-
tion with renowned banks, the carrying of credit insurance and 
the development of intelligent financing concepts.

Personnel
Our employees are the fundamental key to our success. Person-
nel risks therefore have a high priority – especially those risks 
that may result from inadequate qualification or employee 
turnover. For this reason, we place a high value on continuous 
qualification, in order to strengthen our employees’ innovative 
capacities and their loyalty to our company. Proper staffing of 
project teams is especially important in the project business. 
In order to safeguard the workforce necessary to maintain our 
company’s growth path, we apply suitable employee develop-
ment tools, such as a well-structured succession plan and the 
targeted recruitment of university graduates.

Acquisition by IPIC
On December 23, 2008, the “Master Sale & Purchase Agreement” 
was signed by MAN AG, MAN Ferrostaal Beteiligungs GmbH 
and International Petroleum Investment Company, Abu Dhabi, 
United Arab Emirates (IPIC). Subject to approval by the antitrust 
authorities, seventy percent of the shares of MAN Ferrostaal AG 
were initially sold to IPIC. Options were granted relative to the 
remaining thirty percent.

In our opinion, this new ownership structure carries major op-
portunities for MAN Ferrostaal. We are currently offering to es-
tablish a joint venture with IPIC in Abu Dhabi, in order to carry 
out the projects in the region with considerable local added 
value. In particular, this includes the construction of one of the 
world’s largest chemical complexes with a volume of well over 
fifty billion US dollars, in which we will participate substantial-
ly. Further activities are also planned together with IPIC outside 
of Abu Dhabi, especially in the Petrochemicals, Oil & Gas, Power 
Plants and Solar business units. 

By contrast, we consider the risks of changing our primary 
shareholder to be low. Though we will no longer have access 
to MAN AG’s guarantees to the same extent in future, we are 
currently conducting, in consultation with IPIC, the relevant 
negotiations with banks on future guarantee agreements. 

Since its establishment in 1984, IPIC has proven to be a reli-
able strategic investor with a long-term orientation and one 
that promotes the development of investees. There is also no 
reason to believe that the current financial crisis will cause this 
to change. In particular, owing to their generally conservative 
investment policies, the banks of the United Arab Emirates are 
affected by the subprime crisis in respect of relatively small 
volumes only.

The risk management system will also be further optimised in 
2009, especially with respect to the risks of the complex project 
business.
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In order to stay on course toward sustainable success and to 
be able to address future customer demands, it is important 

to make quality understood as an integral part of our corporate 
culture. In 2008, we launched a group-wide quality offensive 
under the name of ‘pacer’ (proposal and contract execution reli-
ability), in which four facets play a role: Content – all regulations, 
standards and tools of the company; Training – all measures to 
teach the use of the tools and standards; Awareness – all forms 
of publications used to communicate the significance of the 
quality of our work; Acceptance – all undertakings that promote 
continuous application of these tools and standards by the 
workforce. The pacer programme will help us meet our obliga-
tion to execute projects even more reliably, more efficiently and 
more transparently. Our quality management system applies 
to the entire MAN Ferrostaal Group and is periodically certified 
according to DIN EN ISO 9001:2000 by independent auditors.

Quality management system
The quality management system, which is applicable across the 
entire group, is an integral part of our daily work. All necessary 
regulations are presented here in transparent form. At the same 
time, documents and checklists for core processes are stored 
together in a central database as an aid to all employees. The 
quality management system provides our employees with a 
major tool for controlling workflows and avoiding mistakes. 
Early recognition of errors pays dividends, because the later an 
error is discovered, the more it generally costs to correct it.

Sophisticated system
The core of our quality management system comprises manage-
rial, core and support processes. Managerial processes are used 
to direct and manage our company. Here, the strategy, planning 
and targets for the business operation are set out and monitored. 
In so doing, we place special emphasis on staff qualifications and 
risk management. Core processes comprise the actual, value-
creating business activity of MAN Ferrostaal. They consist of a 
system of clearly defined working processes – ranging from the 
formulation of the project idea, through the execution of the 
project, to final after-sales services. Besides project management, 
contractual and financial management count among the most 
important core processes at MAN Ferrostaal. Support processes 
cover all activities that guarantee the smooth running of core 
and managerial processes. Our comprehensive quality man-
agement is mirrored in the performance of our products and 
services: economical, technological and comprehensive, in rapid 
realisation and high product quality.

Lived quality culture
The planning, implementation, inspection and improvement 
of our quality management are initiated and controlled by the 
Quality Management service unit. In addition to this, process 
owners with cross-departmental functions are responsible for 
key sub-processes within the company. Each and every em-
ployee monitors compliance with our quality standards. Our 
system not only enables us to maintain our high standards, but 
also fosters our employees’ personal responsibility, motivation 
and qualification.

Continuous improvement
All of our company’s processes and procedures are periodically 
reviewed within the framework of a continuous improvement 
process. We constantly raise our level of quality by implement-
ing improvement potentials identified during regular internal 
and external audits. We consider ongoing employee training as 
an essential task. This is how we ensure that products and serv-
ices “made by MAN Ferrostaal” will also continue to maintain 
the world’s highest quality standards in future.

Quality management
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At A glAnce

      

MAN Ferrostaal Group    2008   2007   Change in %

€ mill.

Order intake    1,836   1,556   18.0

Germany     279   380   –26.6

Abroad     1,557   1,176   32.4

Revenue    1,640   1,445   13.5

Germany    285   270   5.6

Abroad     1,355   1,175   15.3

Order backlog    2,578   2,415   6.7

Germany    328   332   –1.2

Abroad     2,250   2,083   8.0

Number of employees    4,845   4,687   3.4

     of which temporary employees    414   512   –19.1

Germany     2,617   2,648   –1.2

Abroad    2,228   2,039   9.3

        Change in € mill.

Operating profit    167   179   –12

Earnings before taxes (EBT)    158   173   –15

Net income    100   156   –56

Return on Sales ROS (in %)    10.2   12,4   -

Return on Capital Employed ROCE (in %)    37.3   36.9   -

MAN Value Added (MVA)     118   126   –8

Capital expenditures    33   45   –12

Amortisation/depreciation and impairment of noncurrent assets    27   28   –1

Cash earnings     79   102   –23

Net Cash provided by operating activities     56   260   –204

Free cash flow     53   257   –204

Cash and cash equivalents     673   628   45

Net liquid assets     653   601   52

Equity     438   334   104
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Consolidated companies of the MAN Ferrostaal Group

As at December 31, 2008      Total
     Share in  assets  Sales   
     capital in %  € mill.  € mill. Employees

MAN Ferrostaal Aktiengesellschaft, Essen     -  1,892  839  686

DSD Asset Management GmbH, Essen (formerly: MAN Ferrostaal Air Technology GmbH, Essen)  100  289  -  -

MAN Ferrostaal Industrieanlagen GmbH, Geisenheim    100  276  131  172

KOCH de Portugal Lda., Lisbon, Portugal     100  115  47  165

MAN Ferrostaal Automotive GmbH, Essen *     100  113  153  1,588

SGI Saarländische Gesellschaft für Industriebeteiligungen mbH, Essen   100  104  -  -

MAN Ferrostaal Industrial Projects GmbH, Essen     100  94  45  112

MAN Ferrostaal Piping Supply GmbH, Essen *     100  54  170  115

SLS Services GmbH, Saarlouis     100  43  -  -

Ferrostaal ProCon de Venezuela C.A., Caracas, Venezuela    100  37  15  35

DSD Construcciones y Montajes S.A., Santiago, Chile    100  34  40  126

MAN Construcciones y Montajes de Venezuela S.A., Caracas, Venezuela   99  34  22  111

MAN Ferrostaal Air Technology GmbH, Essen     100  29  25  62

MAN Ferrostaal do Brasil Comércio e Indústria Ltda., São Paulo, Brazil    100  24  22  74

MAN Ferrostaal Procurement Services N.V., Antwerp-Berchem, Belgium   100  24  21  1

Ferrostaal Metals Holding GmbH, Munich     100  22  -  -

SIRIUS Grundstücksgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Essen    100  22  -  -

New Providence Corp., Panama, Panama     100 22  -  -

MAN Ferrostaal Bausystem GmbH, Bad Honnef     100  20  41  36

MAN Ferrostaal Mexico S.A. de C.V., Mexico, Mexico    100  12  15  84

MAN Ferrostaal Procurement Services, Hooge Zwaluwe, Netherlands   100  10  14  8

Gesellschaft für Vermögensverwaltung mbH, Essen    100  10  -  -

FERROMARINE Africa (PTY.) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa    85  9  -  -

MAN Ferrostaal (Thailand) Co. Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand    100  9  11  94

MAN Ferrostaal Chile S.A.C., Santiago de Chile, Chile    100  8  9  86

MAN Ferrostaal Incorporated, Delaware, USA     100  8  3  10

MAN Ferrostaal Venezuela, Caracas, Venezuela     100  7  6  31

Fritz Werner Industrieausrüstungen GmbH, Geisenheim    100  6  10  31

MAN Ferrostaal Australia Pty. Ltd., Alexandria, Australia    100  5  12  59

P.T. MAN Ferrostaal Equipment Solutions, Jakarta, Indonesia    100  5  7  136

MAN Ferrostaal Equipment Solutions (Pty) Ltd., Johannesburg, South Africa   100  5  8  49

Printing Products (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa    100  5  9  40

PT MAN Ferrostaal Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia     100  5  7  135

MAN Ferrostaal Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Shah Alam, Malaysia    100  4  5  68

MAN Ferrostaal de Colombia Ltda., Bogota, Colombia    100  4  4  42

MAN Ferrostaal Equipamentos e Soluções Ltda., São Paulo, Brazil   100  4  11  99

Industrial Plant & Service Australia Pty. Ltd., Sydney, Australia    70  4  4  30

MAN Ferrostaal S.A.C., Lima, Peru     100  3  1  46

SAGEXPORT S.A., Levallois Perret, France     100  3  -  -

MAN Ferrostaal Argentina, Buenos Aires, Argentina    100  2  2  30

Eisenbau Essen GmbH, Essen     100  1  -  -

Seibert Immo S.A., Sarralbe, France      100  1  -  -

MAN Ferrostaal Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore      100  1  2  21

Key indicAtors for germAn And foreign subsidiAries
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Consolidated companies of the MAN Ferrostaal Group

As at December 31, 2008      Total 
     Share in    assets   Sales   
       capital in %  € mill.  € mill. Employees

MAN Ferrostaal Philippines Inc., Parsig City, Philippines    100  1  1  39

Verkehrsentwicklungsgesellschaft Südosteuropa GmbH, Vienna, Austria   99  1  -  -

MAN Ferrostaal Versicherungsvermittlung GmbH, Essen    100  1  -  5

MAN Ferrostaal NZ Limited, Auckland, New Zealand    100  -  1  5

 

* Total capital, turnover and employees inclusive of operationally managed subsidiaries

      

As at December 31, 2008          Share in capital in %

MFH Holding GesmbH, Vienna, Austria        81.13

MAN Limited, London, Great Britain        50

SCG SILS Centre Gliwice Sp.z.o.o., Gliwice, Poland       50

FerroVAZ Gesellsch. für Export, Import und Engineering mbH, Essen       50

MAN Solar Millennium GmbH, Essen        50

MAN Roland Web Services Pty. Ltd., Sydney, Australia       50

Coutinho & Ferrostaal GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg        33.33

Eurotecnica Melamine S.A., Luxemburg,Luxemburg        30

equity method investments
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other investments*

      

As at December 31, 2008          Share in capital in %

AS FERRO Ltd., Ajakouta, Nigeria        50

CONSTRUCCION E INGENIERIA FIM CHILE LIMITADA, Santiago de Chile, Chile      33.33

Enagas, SGPS, S.A., Lisbon, Portugal        40

Éteres y Alcoholes S.A., Santiago de Chile, Chile        41.74

Fortuna Maquinas Ltda., São Paulo, Brazil (formerly: Battenfeld Pugliese) (inactive)      35

Intermesa Trading S.A., Rio de Janeiro, Brazil        48.50

Investment Holding GmbH, Uster, Switzerland        100

KSH Solutions Incorporated, Montreal, Canada        22

Marine Force International LLP., London, Great Britain       50

MARLOG Marine-Logistik GmbH & Co. KG, Kiel        50

MARLOG Verwaltungsg. mbH, Essen        50

Mützelfeldtwerft GmbH, Cuxhaven        40

Myanmar Fritz Werner Industries Co. Ltd., Rangoon, Myanmar       40

Petrosul S.A., Santiago de Chile, Chile        44.56

P.T. MAN Turbo South East Asia, Jakarta, Indonesia       46.31

Setgás – Sociedade de Produção e Distribuição de Gás, S.A., Lisbon, Portugal      33.05

Solar Power Group GmbH, Munich         25

SOLITEM GmbH, Aachen        20.10

SOPHOSMA SARL, Nouakchott, Mauritania        50

STC Ltd., Nassau, Bahamas        48.50

The Egyptian German Company for Marketing of Flat Steel Products (Feranco) Ltd., Alexandria, Egypt (i.L.)    50

 

* Shareholdings between 20% and 50%, not consolidated due to immateriality or contractual agreements
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Key indicAtors

      

MAN Ferrostaal Group     2008  2007  Change in % 

€ mill.

Order intake    1,836   1,556   18.0

Germany    279   380   –26.6

Abroad     1,557   1,176   32.4

Revenue    1,640   1,445   13.5

Germany    285   270   5.6

Abroad     1,355   1,175   15.3

Order backlog    2,578   2,415   6.7

Germany    328   332   –1.2

Abroad     2,250   2,083   8.0

Employees (number)     4,431   4,175   6.1

Germany    2,238   2,229   0.4

Abroad     2,193   1,946   12.7

Return on Sales ROS (in %)    10.2   12.4   –17.7

Return on capital employed ROCE (in %)*    37.3   36.9   1.1

Equity ratio (in %)    19.4   15.6   24.4

Capital expenditures    33   45   –26.7

Amortisation/depreciation/write-down    27   28   –3.6

* Cash and cash equivalents amounting to € 250 million are added to assets again.
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consolidAted income stAtement

€ mill.    Note   2008   2007

Revenue     [8]   1,640   1,445

Cost of sales      –1,356   –1,179

Gross profit      284   266

Other operating income     [9]   206   236

Selling expenses      –132   –129

General administrative expenses      –92   –83

Other operating expenses    [10]   –171   –172

Share of net income of equity-method investments   [11]   71   61

Income from financial investments    [11]   1   -

Earnings before interest and taxes      167   179

Interest income    [12]   9   9

Interes expense    [12]   –18   –15

Earnings before taxes      158   173

Taxes    [13]   –50   –32

Loss (profit) of discontinued operations, net of tax   [7]   –8   15

Net income      100   156

     of which shares held by MAN Ferrostaal shareholders     100   156



98

consolidAted bAlAnce sheet

ASSETS

      

€ mill.    Note  2008   2007

Intangible assets    [15]   2   1

Property, plant and equipment    [16]   102   105

Investment property    [17]   6   6

Equity-method investments    [18]   326   277

Financial investments       30   24

Deferred tax assets     [13]   47   53

Other non-current assets    [21]   34   51

Non-current assets       547   517

Inventories     [19]   602   576

Trade receivables    [20]   317   290

Income tax assets      7   8

Assets held for sale    [7]   1   13

Other current assets    [21]   111   105

Cash and cash equivalents    [22]   673   628

Current assets       1,711   1,620

      2,258   2,137
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consolidAted bAlAnce sheet

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

€ mill.    Note   2008   2007

Subscribed capital      70   70

Additional paid-in capital      83   83

Retained earnings      356   260

Accumulated other comprehensive income      –71   –79

Equity of MAN Ferrostaal AG shareholders      438   334

Total equity    [23]   438   334

Non-current financial liabilities    [24]   11   11

Pensions    [25]   35   41

Deferred tax liabilities     [13]   51   38

Other non-current provisions    [28]   13   8

Other non-current liabilities    [29]   2   2

Non-current financial liabilities and provisions      112   100

Current financial liabilities    [24]   9   16

Trade payables    [26]   401   295

Prepayments received    [27]   847   1,026

Current income tax liabilities      32   26

Other current provisions    [28]   123   164

Other current liabilities    [29]   296   176

Current liabilities and provisions      1,708   1,703

      2,258   2,137



100

      

€ mill.      2008   2007

Earnings before taxes      158   173

Current income taxes      –37   –39

Depreciation and impairment losses on non-current assets     27   28

Change in pensions       -   –3

Income from associated affiliates not paid out in dividends     –69   –63

Cash earnings from discontinued operations      -   6

Cash earnings      79   102

Changes in working capital *      –115   125

Changes in other provisions      –31   –68

Changes in other assets      6   43

Changes in other liabilities      117   75

Elimination of gains and losses from fixed asset disposals      –2   –13

Change in tax assets/liabilities       6   0

Other changes in net current assets       –4   –4

Cash flow from operating activities      56   260

Capital expenditures      –33   –45

Proceeds from fixed asset disposals      30   23

Proceeds from disposal of discontinued operations      -   22

Cash flow from investment activities of discontinued operations     -   –3

Cash flow from investment activities       –3   –3

Free cash flow from operating and investment activities     53   257

Dividends paid      –4   –31

Capital increase      -   3

Cash flow from financing activities of discontinued operations     -   13

Change in Group financing       –8   –3

Special endowment of pension plan       -   –14

Cash flow from financing activities      –12   –32

Net change in cash and cash equivalents      41   225

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the fiscal year     628   447

Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations at the beginning of the fiscal year    -   3

Consolidation and exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    4   –47

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fiscal year     673   628

Composition of net liquid assets as at 31/12

Cash and cash equivalents      673   628

Financial liabilities       –20   –27

Net liquid assets 31/12      653   601

 

* Working capital includes inventories, prepayments received, trade receivables/payables.

consolidAted stAtement of cAsh flows 

Cash flow from operating activities of continuing operations 
includes interest receipts of €10 mill. (previous year: €9 mill.), 
interest payments of €5 mill. (previous year: €4 mill.) and income 
taxes paid of €33 mill. (previous year: €4 mill.).
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stAtement of chAnges in comprehensive income

€ mill.      2008   2007

Currency translation differences      6   –22

Actuarial pension gains/losses       7   13

Deferred taxes       –5   –9

Other comprehensive income for the period      8   –18

Net income       100   156

     of which accumulated other comprehensive income transferred to income statement   -   5

Total comprehensive income for the period      108   138

     of which attributable MAN Ferrostaal shareholders      108   138

Refer also to further details on equity, Note (23).

notes to the consolidAted finAnciAl stAtements

BASIS oF prEpArATIoN

1 GENErAL prINCIpLES 

MAN Ferrostaal AG is a subsidiary of MAN Aktiengesellschaft, 
Munich, with registered headquarters in Essen, and is included 
in the MAN consolidated financial statements. The MAN  
Ferrostaal Group is a global provider of industrial services. In 
its Projects and Services divisions, it holds a leading market 
position with annual sales of 1,640 million euros (previous year: 
1,445 million euros) and approximately 4,845 employees as at 
the balance sheet date of whom 414 are temporary employees 
(previous year: 4,687 employees, of whom 512 were temporary 
employees). In compliance with Section 315 (a) of the Han-
delsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code), the accom-
panying consolidated financial statements of MAN Ferrostaal 
AG for the fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 2008, were 
prepared in accordance with the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Ac-
counting Standards Board (IASB), as adopted by Regulation no. 
1606/2002 (EC) of the European Parliament and of the Council 
on the application of international accounting standards in 
the European Union. The consolidated financial statements are 
prepared in euros being the reporting currency. All amounts 
are provided in millions of euros (€ millions), unless otherwise 
noted. The financial statements were released by the Executive 
Board of MAN Ferrostaal AG for submission to the Supervisory 
Board on January 28, 2009. 

2  CoNSoLIDATIoN AND MEASUrEMENT oF INVESTMENTS

 
a) Investments
MAN Ferrostaal Aktiengesellschaft investments include subsidi-
aries, joint ventures, associated affiliates and financial invest-
ments. Subsidiaries are investments in which MAN Ferrostaal 
AG can exercise control over financial and business policy in 
accordance with the articles of association, company contract 
or contractual agreement. In almost all such investments, this is 
based on the majority of the voting rights held directly or indi-
rectly by MAN Ferrostaal AG. Special-purpose entities without a 
voting majority held by MAN Ferrostaal AG are consolidated,  
if these companies are constructively controlled by MAN  
Ferrostaal AG. Joint ventures are investments managed jointly 
by MAN Ferrostaal AG with one or more partners. Joint manage-
ment requires a contractual agreement. Investments in which 
MAN Ferrostaal AG is in a position to exercise significant influ-
ence by participating in determining the financial and business 
policy are termed associated affiliates. As a rule, significant 
influence is assumed when MAN Ferrostaal AG holds between 
20% and 50% of the voting rights. All remaining investments 
are considered financial investments.
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b) Subsidiaries included in consolidation  
In addition to MAN Ferrostaal Aktiengesellschaft, all subsidiar-
ies are included in the consolidated financial statements in the 
course of consolidation. Subsidiaries acquired during the fiscal 
year are consolidated as of the time of transfer of control over 
financial and business policy. Companies sold during the fiscal 
year are deconsolidated as of the date of disposal. 

During fiscal 2008, no major acquisitions of subsidiaries took 
place. First-time consolidation relates to existing companies that 
have now started up operations. The eliminated companies involve 
internal Group mergers. Major investments are shown on pages 5 
and 6. A complete summary of shareholdings of MAN Ferrostaal 
Group is prepared separately and is disclosed in accordance with 
statutory regulations in the electronic Federal Gazette. 

Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase 
method of accounting. During the initial consolidation, the 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the company 
acquired are recognised at their fair value. Any positive differ-
ence that remains between the acquisition cost of the company 
purchased and the proportionate share of revalued net assets 
is accounted for separately as goodwill. At least once a year it 
is tested for impairment; and its carrying amount is written 
down to the recoverable amount if it is found to be impaired. In 
the event that a subsidiary is sold, the attributable goodwill is 
taken into account when determining the income from the sale. 
Expenditure, income, receivables and liabilities between the 
companies included in consolidation, as well as inter-company 
profits from internal Group deliveries of inventories and non-
current assets, are eliminated. Deferred taxes are accrued for 
consolidation processes that impact profit and loss.

c) Equity-method investments
Investments recorded at equity include associated affiliates over 
which MAN Ferrostaal AG exercises significant control; this can 
be assumed as a rule with a voting rights share of twenty percent 
to fifty percent. Joint ventures, too, are recorded at equity. Associ-
ated affiliates and joint ventures are initially measured at cost. 
For subsequent measurement, the MAN Ferrostaal AG share of 
gains and losses generated after acquisition is recognised in the 
income statement. Other changes in equity of associated affili-
ates, as well as currency adjustments, are recorded recognised in 
other comprehensive income. Interim profits from transactions 
of Group companies with associated affiliates and joint ventures 
are taken to income on a pro-rated basis. Goodwill that arises 
from the acquisition of an associated affiliate or from a joint 
venture is reflected in the carrying value of the investment in the 
associated affiliate or joint venture. In the event that an associ-
ated affiliate or joint venture is sold, the attributable goodwill is 
included in the calculation of the disposal gain or loss. 

d) Financial investments
Financial investments for which a quoted market price exists or 
for which a reliable fair value can be determined are measured at 
this value. In all other cases, financial investments are measured at 
cost. If there is any indication that a financial investment recorded 
at cost may be impaired, an impairment test is performed and, if 
necessary, an impairment loss accounted for in profit and loss. 

e) Currency translation
Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the relevant 
exchange rate at the time of the transaction. In subsequent pe-
riods, monetary assets and liabilities are measured at the clos-
ing date, and the exchange differences recognised in profit and 
loss. Non-monetary items measured at historical acquisition or 
production cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate on the date of transaction. 

Financial statements of subsidiaries and associated affiliates from 
countries outside of the euro zone are accounted for using the 
functional currency method. In the case of subsidiaries, the func-
tional currency is determined primarily by their primary busi-
ness environment and almost always corresponds to the relevant 
national currency. For certain subsidiaries, the functional currency 
is not the national currency, but the euro.

Translation of balance sheet items is made at the closing rate, 
while income statement items are translated using the aver-
age rate for the year. The average annual exchange rate is, as a 

Number of companies consolidated

 German  Foreign Total

Consolidated as at      

December 31, 2007 29 36 65

First included in fiscal 2008 - 3 3

Eliminated in fiscal 2008 –1 –2 –3

Consolidated as at      

December 31, 2008 28 37 65
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rule, calculated using the monthly average exchange rates. In 
presenting developments in assets, provisions and equity, the 
balances at the beginning and the end of the fiscal year, as well 
as changes in the scope of consolidation, are translated based 
on the relevant closing rates. The remaining items are translat-
ed at the annual average rate. Differences arising from currency 

translation of the balance sheet items compared to the transla-
tion of the previous year are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. In the event that a subsidiary is sold, such translation 
differences are recognised in profit and loss.

The exchange rates of key currencies in € are:

                                                                                                                                                              Rate at balance sheet date                Average rate 

 31/12/2008  31/12/2007  31/12/2008  31/12/2007

US dollar 1.3917 1.4721  1.4759  1.3733

Pound sterling 0.9525  0.7334  0.7934  0.6847

Japanese yen  126.1400  164.9300  153.1504  161.7742

Swiss franc 1.4850  1.6547  1.5857  1.6439

South African rand 13.0667  10.0298  11.9600  9.6496

Polish zloty 4.1535  3.5935  3.5044  3.7848

Singapore dollar 2.0040  2.1163  2.0770   2.0651

3 ACCoUNTING prINCIpLES

The consolidated financial statements are prepared based on 
acquisition and production costs, with the exception of certain 
financial instruments, which are measured at fair value. The 
consolidated financial statements are based on the financial 
statements of MAN Ferrostaal AG and the consolidated subsidi-
aries prepared in accordance with accounting and valuation 
methods that are uniform throughout the MAN Group.

a) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised at the time that products or merchandise 
are delivered or that services have been rendered and risk has 
been transferred to the customer. It must be possible to meas-
ure the amount of revenue reliably, and collectibility of the 
receivable must probable. Discounts, customer incentives and 
rebates are deducted from revenue. 

Construction contracts are recognised using the percentage of 
completion method; details are contained in the explanations 
on construction contracts.

Interest income relating to projects is in principle reported 
under revenue.

Dividend income from capital investment is recognised if the 
claim to payment has arisen legally. 

If the sale of products includes a certain amount for future serv-
ices that can be identified (multiple element arrangements), the 
related revenue is deferred and recognised in profit and loss dur-
ing the contract period in accordance with the service rendered.

b) Operating expenses and income 
Operating expenses are recognised when the service is utilised, 
and advertising and sales promotion costs, as well as other sales-
related expenses, when incurred. Cost of sales includes the produc-
tion costs of the products sold, as well as the acquisition costs of 
merchandise sold. Production costs cover, in addition to direct 
material and labor costs, also production-related overhead costs, 
including depreciation of production facilities and write-downs of 
inventory. Warranty provisions are recognised when the product 
is sold or once the customer has accepted the facility. Interest and 
other borrowing costs are treated as period expenses.
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c) Intangible assets
Separately purchased intangible assets are recognised at cost. 
Intangible assets acquired on the course of a business combi-
nation are measured at their fair value at the acquisition date. 
Finite-lift intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line ba-
sis over their useful lives. The amortisation period for software 
is mainly three years. In case of licences and similar rights, am-
ortisation corresponds to the contractual terms of useful life.

d) Property, plant and epuipment
Property, plant and epuipment are measured at acquisition 
or production cost, from which depreciation and, if necessary, 
impairment losses are deducted. Production costs of tangible 
assets produced by the Company comprise directly attribut-
able production costs and a proportional share of production 
overheads. If tangible assets consist of essentially identifiable 
components with different terms of useful life, these compo-
nents are depreciated separately. Costs for general overhauls 
and repairs are expensed, provided they are not required to be 
capitalised. Borrowing costs are recorded as current expenses. 
Tangible assets are depreciated over the expected useful life of 
the asset using straight-line depreciation.

Depreciation is based on terms of useful life applied uniformly 
throughout the Group:

e) Investment property
Investment property consists of property held for rental in-
come and/or for value appreciation purposes. In the same way 
as items of property, plant and equipment, it is accounted for at 
depreciated cost and depreciated over its estimated useful life 
of the property, provided that land is not involved. The terms of 
useful life of investment property are generally between 5 and 
25 years. The fair value of this property is set out in the Notes, 
see Note (17). It is calculated based on internal expert appraisals 
(using accepted valuation methods).

f) Leasing
In the case of lease transactions involving property, plant and 
equipment (investment leases), MAN Ferrostaal Group com-
panies are the lessees. If the lessee bears substantially all the 
risks and rewards from the use of the lease object, the lease 
agreement is classified as a finance lease. In such cases, the les-
see recognised the lease object and a corresponding financial 
liability. Measurement is at the lower of the net present value of 
the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the lease ob-
ject. All other leases in which the companies of MAN Ferrostaal 
Group are considered as lessees are treated as operating leases, 
and lease instalments are recorded as expenses.

g) Impairment losses
If indications arise that the carrying value of intangible assets, 
tangible assets or investment property may be impaired, an 
impairment test is performed. In such cases, the recoverable 
amount of the relevant asset is determined in order to calculate 
the amount of the impairment loss to be recorded. The recover-
able amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value minus costs 
of disposal and its value in use. The value in use represents the 
net present value of anticipated cash flows from the use of the 
object. If a value in use cannot be determined for an individual 
asset, the recoverable amount for the smallest identifiable 
group of assets (cash-generating unit) that can be allocated 
to the relevant asset is determined. If the asset’s recoverable 
amount is lower than its carrying value, an impairment loss for 
the asset is recognised immediately and recorded under other 
operating expenses.

In the event that a higher recoverable amount is established at 
a later time for an asset or a cash-generating unit, a reversal of 
the impairment loss to a maximum of the depreciated carry-
ing value that would have resulted without the impairment loss 
takes place. The reversal of the impairment loss is recognised in 
profit and loss and recorded under other operating income. This 
does not, however, apply to goodwill.

h) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable 
value. Cost comprises directly attributable production costs and 
a proportional share of fixed and variable overhead production 
costs. Allocated overhead costs are primarily calculated based 
on normal capacity utilisation. Selling costs, general adminis-
trative costs and interest on debt are not capitalised. Raw mate-
rials and merchandise are measured at purchase cost.

Depreciation is based on terms of useful life applied uniformly 

Group-wide:

   Years

Buildings   20 to 50

Improvements to land   8 to 20

Technical equipment and machinery   5 to 15

Factory and office equipment    3 to 10
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i) Constructing contracts
Constructing contracts are recognised using the percentage of 
completion (p.o.c.) method. Under this method, revenue and 
cost of sales are recognised by reference to the stage of comple-
tion achieved as at the balance sheet date. Revenues from the 
order as agreed with the customer and anticipated order costs 
are used as the basis. As a rule, the percentage of completion 
is calculated from the ratio of order costs incurred as at the 
balance sheet date to total anticipated order costs (cost-to-cost 
method). In isolated cases, particularly if complex orders are 
involved, percentage of completion is determined based on con-
tractually agreed milestones (milestone method). If the results 
of a long-term production order cannot estimated reliably, in par-
ticular in the case of first of its kind, revenues are recorded only 
in the amount of order costs incurred (zero profit method). In the 
balance sheet contract components whose revenue is recognised 
using the PoC method are reported as trade receivables, net of 
prepayment received.

The MAN Ferrostaal Group applies the percentage of completion 
method for orders with an order volume exceeding 20 million 
euros. The percentage of completion method is not utilised for 
orders in the marine area. 

Expected losses from construction contracts are immediately 
recognised in full as expenses. If the result of a customer-specific 
production order is not sufficiently certain, the revenues are 
recorded in the amount of order costs incurred.

j) Nonderivative financial instruments
Nonderivative financial instruments include, in particular, 
receivables from customers, loans, financial investments, 
marketable securities and cash and cash equivalents, as well as 
financial liabilities and trade payables. Nonderivative financial 
instruments are initially measured at fair value. The fair value 
in this initial measurement in principle reflects the transaction 
price, i.e. the consideration given or received.

After this initial recording, nonderivative financial instruments 
are measured at their fair value or at amortised acquisition cost, 
depending on the category to which they belong.

Advances and receivables not held for trading are generally re-
corded at amortised cost minus impairment losses. Within the 
MAN Ferrostaal Group, these advances and receivables prima-
rily include customer receivables, other receivables and loans. 
Impairment losses are recognised if there is evidence that the 

asset is impaired. No-interest or low-interest receivables with a 
remaining term exceeding six months are discounted. 

Financial assets available for sale are measured at fair value. In 
the MAN Ferrostaal Group, this category chiefly comprises se-
curities and financial investments. The difference between cost 
and fair value is treated without impacting profit and loss and 
recorded in other comprehensive income and net of deferred 
taxes. If the fair value falls significantly or permanently below 
the carrying value, the impairment loss is recognised in the 
income statement.
 
In the case of marketable securities, the fair value is generally 
their quoted market price. Financial investments for which no 
quoted market price is available and the fair value of which can-
not be determined reliably are measured at cost. If indications for 
impairment exist, an impairment test is performed and, if neces-
sary, an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

Assets held for trading are measured at fair value. If no market 
value is available, the fair value is determined using appropriate 
valuation techniques, such as the discounted cash flow method. 
Such nonderivative financial instruments occur only in isolated 
instances within the MAN Ferrostaal Group.

In subsequent valuation, financial liabilities, with the exception 
of derivative financial instruments, are measured at amortised 
acquisition cost. 

k) Derivatives
Derivatives are used within the MAN Ferrostaal Group to 
hedged foreign currency, interest rate and other price-related 
risks that arise in the main from ongoing business operations.

Derivatives are recognised initially and at the end of each subse-
quent reporting period at fair value.

For derivatives quoted on the stock exchange, fair value reflects 
their positive or negative market value. If there are no quoted 
market prices available, the fair value is computed based on 
conditions that apply at the balance sheet date, such as inter-
est or exchange rates, and using generally recognised valuation 
techniques, such as discounted cash flow or option pricing 
models. In the case of some derivatives, the fair value is based 
on external valuations on the part of our financial partners. 
Whether gains and losses arising from fair value measurement 
are recorded depends on the classification of the derivative.
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If IAS 39 conditions for accounting according to hedge accounting 
rules are met, MAN designates and documents the hedging rela-
tionship as either a fair value or cash flow hedge from that date.

In the case of fair value hedges, the assets and liabilities that 
have been recognised, or firm commitments that have not been 
recognised are hedged against potential fluctuations in the fair 
value. In fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the 
derivative financial instruments and the related hedged item 
are recognised in profit and loss. In the event of a perfect hedge, 
the fluctuations in value of the derivative financial instrument 
and the hedge item recognised in profit and loss offset each 
other almost entirely.

In the case of cash flow hedges, the recognised assets and liabili-
ties unrecognised the firm commitments, and highly probable 
forecast transactions are hedged against the risk of fluctuating 
cash flows. The effective portion of the change in the fair value 
of the derivative financial instrument is initially recognised in-
other comprehensive income, net of deferred taxes. As soon as 
the hedged item of affects in profit and loss, the gains or losses 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified as 
revenue in case of sale transactions. If a hedge subsequently re-
sults in the recognition of a non-financial asset (purchase trans-
action), the gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive 
income from measurement of the derivative are included in 
the carrying amount of the hedged non-financial assets. The 
ineffective portion of the change in fair value is immediately 
recognised in profit and loss. If the originaly hedged forecasted 
transaction is no longer expected to occur the cumulative gains 
or losses recognised in other comprehensive income until that 
point are, also recognised in profit and loss.

Derivative financial instruments that cease to meet the condi-
tions for designation as hedging instruments are categorised 
as held for trading. In these cases, the changes in fair value are 
recognised immediately in profit and loss. 

Refer to Note (33) regarding the hedging strategy of the MAN 
Ferrostaal Group and the volume at the balance sheet date.

l) Deferred taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary 
differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, for 
consolidation adjustments that impact profit and loss and for 
tax loss carryforwards. Deferred taxes are measured using the 
applicable tax rate for assessment periods starting in 2008, which 
is 31.58 percent domestically. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
only insofar as taxable income is likely to be available for the use 
of deductible temporary differences.

As a rule, changes in deferred taxes in the balance sheet result in 
deferred tax income and expense. In the event that changes in 
deferred taxes arise in relation to items that are directly recog-
nised in equity, the changes in deferred taxes are also recognised 
directly in equity.

m) Pensions obligations
Pension obligations from defined benefit plans are calculated 
according to the projected unit credit method. In this method, 
the defined benefit obligations are measured in proportion to 
the benefit claims acquired as at the balance sheet date and dis-
counted to their net present value. Assumptions regarding future 
developments of certain parameters that will have an effect on 
the future level of benefits are taken into account in measure-
ment. The fair value of existing plan assets for the coverage of 
retirement benefit commitments are deducted from the pension 
provisions. Refer to Note (25) for details on measurement.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in other comprehen-
sive income net of taxes.

Service costs which represent the claims of active employees 
earned during the fiscal year under the benefit plan are report-
ed under functional expenses. The interest expense included in 
net pension expense and the expected return on plan assets are 
reflected in interest income.

Payments for defined contribution plans are recognised in 
functional expenses in the income statement.
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n) Other provisions
Other provisions are recognised for all identifiable risks and 
uncertain obligations that arise from past events and that are 
likely to result in an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits, the amount of which can be reliably estimated. Provi-
sions are measured in the amount required to fulfil the relevant 
obligations according to best estimates. If there is a significant 
interest effect, the provision is discounted with the market 
interest rate applicable as at the balance sheet date. Refunds 
anticipated from third parties in connection with the provision 
are capitalised separately as assets, provided it is almost certain 
that they will materialise.

Provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted in the event 
of additional information or changes in circumstances. If the 
amount of the obligation is reduced due to a change in esti-
mate, the provision is liquidated proportionally, and the related 
income recognised in those functional areas that were original-
ly charged with the expense when the provision was set up.

Provisions for warranties are recognised at the time of the sale 
of the relevant product or the rendering of the relevant serv-
ice. They are primarily measured based on experience. Fur-
thermore, individual provisions are created for known losses. 
Provisions for restructuring programmes are set up, provided 
a detailed, formal restructuring plan has been developed and 
communicated to the parties concerned. Provisions for pending 
costs and for other business-related obligations are calculated 
based on services still to be rendered, generally in the amount 
of cost yet to be incurred. Provisions for pending losses from 
onerous contracts are created if the economic benefit arising 
from the contract is lower than unavoidable costs required to 
fulfil the contract.

o) Non-current assets designated for sale and discontinued 
operations
A non-current asset is classified as ‘designated for sale’ if it is to 
be realised principally by means of a sale and not by means of 
operating use. It is recognised at the lower of the carrying value 
and fair market value minus selling costs and shown separately 
in the balance sheet. A part of the company is classified as a 
discontinued operation if it represents a significant business 
area of the MAN Ferrostaal Group and is intended for sale or 
has been sold. Assets and liabilities of the discontinued opera-
tion are reported as ‘intended for sale’ up to the time the sale 
has been concluded and measured at the lower of the carrying 
value or fair value minus selling expenditure. Discontinued 

operations are shown separately in the income statement, the 
balance sheet and the cash flow statement and explained in the 
Notes. Refer to Note (7) for details.

p) Presentation of financial statements
Current and non-current assets and liabilities are represented 
separately in the balance sheet. Assets and liabilities are classi-
fied as current if they are due within a year or within a longer 
business cycle. Deferred tax assets and liabilities, as well as 
assets and provisions from defined benefit pension plans, are 
represented as non-current items. The consolidated income 
statement is prepared using the cost of sales method.

q) Information from previous years
Specific data from previous years has been adjusted to conform 
to the current presentation in order to improve comparability.

r) Estimates and scope of discretion
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires 
that, to a certain degree, estimates and discretionary decisions 
are made. Estimates are based on experience and other relevant 
factors, taking into account the going concern principle. All es-
timates and assumptions are made according to the best of our 
knowledge in order to convey a true and fair view of the Group’s 
net assets financial position and result of operations. Existing 
uncertainties are taken into account to the extent necessary 
in determining values; nevertheless, future events may differ 
from estimates. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis.

The assumptions made as at the balance sheet date are particularly 
significant as far as the following issues are concerned: The test of 
goodwill for impairment undertaken at least once a year requires, 
inter alia, forecasts of future cash flows, and their discounting. 
Cash flows are based on forecasts in turn based on financial plans 
approved by management. The weighted average cost of capital, 
and tax rates, constitute additional important premises.

A portion of production orders in the MAN Ferrostaal Group are 
accounted for using the percentage of completion method. Rev-
enue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion. This 
method relies in particular on the meticulous estimation of the 
percentage of completion of the order. Depending on which 
method is utilised to determine the percentage of completion, 
significant estimated values include total order costs, costs that 
will still be incurred prior to completion, order risks and other 
estimates.
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Pensions and similar obligations are measured based on actu-
arial techniques. Such measurements rely primarily on assump-
tions concerning discount factors, the expected return on plan 
assets, salary and pension trends, as well as life expectancy.

These actuarial assumptions may differ considerably from ac-
tual developments due to changes in conditions in the market 
and the economy and, therefore, result in significant changes in 
pension and similar obligations.

Since the MAN Ferrostaal Group operates in numerous coun-
tries, it is subject to the most varied tax legislation in a number 
of tax jurisdictions. Expected actual income taxes and deferred 
tax assets and liabilities must be calculated for each taxable en-
tity. This requires assumptions regarding the interpretation of 
complex tax rules, as well as regarding the possibility of achiev-
ing sufficient taxable income in terms of the relevant type of 
tax and tax jurisdiction. In the event that these assumptions 
deviate from the actual outcome of such tax uncertainties, an 
impact on both tax expenses and deferred taxes may result.

Measurement of other provisions and comparable obligations 
can be complex depending on the underlying business event, 
and is linked to estimates to a considerable degree. The assump-
tions made by management regarding the occurrence or the 
possible amount of utilisation are based on experience, avail-
able technical data, estimates of cost developments and poten-
tial warranty cases, as well as possible proceeds from recovery.

4 CASh FLow STATEMENT 

In the cash flow statement, classifies cash flows into cash flow 
from operations, cash flow from investment activities and cash 
flow from financing activities. Effects from changes in the scope 
of consolidation and from exchange rates are eliminated in the 
relevant items. Changes in cash and cash equivalents arising 
from fluctuations in exchange rates are reported separately. 
Cash flow from operating activities is determined based on the 
indirect method.

Non-cash operating expenses and income, as well as results 
from the disposal of assets, are eliminated in cash flow from 
operations. 

Cash flow from investment activities contains cash investments 
in tangible assets, intangible assets and investments. Receipts 
from the sale of tangible assets, intangible assets, investments 
and discontinued operations are offset. Outlays for the acquisi-
tion of subsidiaries are reduced by the cash and cash equiva-
lents taken over.

Cash flow from financing activities comprises the following 
cash transactions: dividend payments, receipts and expendi-
tures related to securities, the assumption and repayment of 
financial liabilities and endowment of pension funds.
Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement 
correspond to the balance sheet items. Cash and cash equiva-
lents encompass deposits with banks and receivables from 
internal MAN Group financial transactions.

5 NEw AND rEVISED ACCoUNTING proNoUNCEMENTS 

New accounting pronouncements applied
In October 2008, the IASB passed resolutions amending IAS 39 
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” and 
IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure” which now allow 
entities to reclassify certain financial instruments. This change 
became effective as at July 1, 2008, with retroactive effect. The 
change has no significant effect on MAN Ferrostaal Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2006, IFRIC published the IFRIC 11 interpretation 
on “IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions”. The inter-
pretation discusses the issue of how group-wide share-based 
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payment systems are to be accounted for, what effects employ-
ee changes within a Group have on IFRS 2, and how share-based 
payments are to be handled in which the entity issues treasury 
shares or must acquire shares from a third party. The change 
has no significant effect on MAN Ferrostaal Group’s consoli-
dated financial statements.

Accounting pronouncements newly adopted by the EU, 
which have not been in effect prior to the effective date 
The following accounting announcements have been issued by 
the IASB and are to become mandatory for fiscal years starting 
on or after January 1, 2009. The Group is still evaluating the 
possible effects of these announcements on the consolidated 
financial statements.

In January 2008, an amendment to IFRS 2 “Share-based Pay-
ments, Vesting Conditions and Cancellations” was published. 
This amendment clarifies that vesting conditions entail only 
service conditions and performance conditions. Furthermore, it 
stipulates that the same accounting treatment should be used 
in the case of early cancellation of the plan, whether it has been 
cancelled by the entity itself or by another party. The amended 
standard is to be applied for fiscal years starting on or after 
January 1, 2009. The European Union has not yet adopted the 
amendment to IFRS 2.

In September 2007, the IASB published IAS 1 “Presentation of 
Financial Statements”. The goal of this revision is to facilitate 
analysis, as well as comparison of financial statements, for 
the users. IAS 1 governs the fundamentals for presenting and 
structuring financial statements. It also includes minimum 
requirements regarding the content of the financial statements. 
The revised standard is to be applied for fiscal years starting on 
or after January 1, 2009.

In March 2007, the IASB published IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”. In 
this revision, the IASB has eliminated an option for the treat-
ment of borrowing costs incurred directly in connection with 
the acquisition, construction or manufacture of a qualifying 
asset. These borrowing costs are in future to be capitalised as a 
component of the asset’s cost. The revised standard is to be ap-
plied for fiscal years starting on or after January 1, 2009.

In November 2006, the IASB issued IFRS 8 “Operating Seg-
ments”, which replaces the previous IAS 14 on “Segment Report-
ing”. According to IFRS 8, reporting on the financial situation 
of segments must take place in accordance with the so-called 

management approach. In this approach, the differentiation 
of segments and disclosures on the segments are based on in-
formation that management uses internally to assess segment 
performance and resource allocation. IFRS 8 is to be used for 
fiscal years that begin on or after January 1, 2009. 

6  ACQUISITIoNS AND DISpoSALS oF INVESTMENTS, 
CALL AND pUT opTIoNS

a) Acquisitions
During fiscal 2008, no major acquisitions of subsidiaries took 
place. First-time consolidation relates either to newly founded 
companies or companies that have only just now started up 
operations.

Acquisitions 2007
During fiscal 2007, a significant investment was the takeover 
of the Lisbon based facilities developer Koch de Portugal. The 
company specialises in project development and project man-
agement of major industrial projects, particularly the construc-
tion of power plants.

Furthermore, 30 percent of the shares in Eurotecnica Melamine 
S.A. with registered headquarters in Luxembourg were acquired. 
The company was included in the consolidated financial state-
ments using the equity method.

b) Disposals
The eliminated companies involve internal Group mergers.

Disposals 2007
A majority stake in the steel business conducted by MAN  
Ferrostaal was sold to CCC Steel GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg. 
Sales proceeds amounted to 117 million euros. Payments is-
sued amounted to 8 million euros. This transaction enduringly 
strengthened the competitive position of the steel trading busi-
ness. The new company took up its business activities under the 
name “Coutinho & Ferrostaal GmbH & Co. KG” effective January 
1, 2008. As a result of the sale, MAN Ferrostaal has a 33.33 per-
cent holding in the new company. The co-shareholders of the 
new company have a call option for the remaining shares held 
by MAN Ferrostaal. Moreover, MAN Ferrostaal has a put option 
on the remaining shares. Neither call nor put options may be 
exercised prior to January 1, 2012. 
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7 DISCoNTINUED opErATIoNS 

As part of its portfolio optimisation, the MAN Ferrostaal Group 
sold a business segment in fiscal 2007, which fulfils the criteria 
for reporting as discontinued operations under IFRS 5. Current 
income, income from the sale, assets, liabilities and cash flow 
are all shown separately in the financial statements for this 
business segment.

In fiscal 2007, discontinued operations involve MAN Ferrostaal’s 
steel trading activities. Effective December 28, 2007, MAN Ferrostaal 
sold the steel trading activities which had been reported as 
discontinued operations since fiscal 2006 to CCC Steel GmbH & 
Co. KG, Hamburg. Global steel trading activities have been con-
ducted jointly under the name Coutinho & Ferrostaal GmbH & 
Co. KG since 2008. Following the sale, MAN Ferrostaal now owns 
a 33.33 percent holding in the new company.

In fiscal 2008, discontinued operations refer to the planned sale 
of shares in Intermesa Trading S.A. with registered headquarters 
in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Income and expenses for the discontinued operations in steel trad-
ing activities (January to December 2007 and 2008) amounted to:

The net results of discontinued operations intended for sale of  
7 million euros in the previous year include a tax expenses of  
4 million euros. 

As at December 31, 2008, 1 million euros in current assets were 
reported as assets designated for sale.

€ mill. 2008  2007

Revenue  -  1,068

Expenses, other income  –8  –1,046

Operating profit  –8  22

Net interest result -  –10

Taxes -  –4

Current earnings from discontinued  

business segments after taxes –8  8

Net result from disposals  -  7

discontinued business segments –8  15
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9 oThEr opErATING INCoME

Income from exchange rate differences and financial instru-
ments stems primarily from the measurement of foreign cur-
rency positions, as well as the hedging of currency and interest 
rate risks. This is offset by expenses related to exchange rate 
differences and financial instruments, reported under other 
operating expenditure.

10 oThEr opErATING ExpENSES

Other operating expenses includes expenses that has not been 
allocated to functional costs, particularly cost of sales. All other 
expenses reflects legal, audit and consultancy costs, as well as a 
number of individual items. Expenses from exchange rate dif-
ferences and financial instruments corresponds to other operat-
ing expenses; refer to Note (9).

11 INVESTMENT INCoME

comments on the income stAtement

8 rEVENUE

€ mill. 2008  2007

Income from exchange rate differences 

and financial instruments 111 113

Income from reversal of provisions   45  52

Income from reversal 

of specific bad debt allowances 6 17

Income from other goods and services   2 2

Income from the disposal of tangible  

and intangible assets 2  1

Other income 40 51

 206 236

Revenue according to business division

€ mill.  2008  2007

Projects  921  694

Services  719  751

 1,640  1,445

Revenue according to region

€ mill. 2008  2007

EU  431  386

     of which Germany  285  270

MENA  177  199

GUS  40  70

Latin America 736  554

Rest of the world  256  236

 1,640  1,445

€ mill.  2008  2007

Expenses from exchange rate   

differences and financial instruments 101 11

Bad debt allowances  33  21

Transfer to provisions 17 -

Other expenditure  20 33

 171 172

€ mill.  2008  2007

Income from investments recorded at equity   71 61

Income from investments  8  2

Write-downs –7 –6

Income from the sale of investments  - 4

 72 61
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12 NET INTErEST INCoME (ExpENSE)

The net interest result is roughly at previous year’s level; inter-
est income of 26 million euros (previous year: 24 million euros) 
from the temporary investment of customer payments on long-
term orders has been reclassified as sales revenue.

13 TAxES

The tax expense is broken down as follows:

The expected tax expense for fiscal 2008 is calculated from 
applying the domestic tax rate of 31.58 percent (previous year: 
39.9 percent) applicable to the 2008 assessment period to earn-
ings before taxes. This tax rate reflects

•  trade earnings tax at the average rate of 15.75 percent calculated 
for the MAN fiscal group, as well as

•  corporation tax at the currently applicable rate of 15.83 percent 
(including solidarity surcharge).

No significant effects on overall tax expenditure resulted from 
changes in tax rates abroad in fiscal 2008 (much as in the 
previous year).

The key domestic companies of the MAN Ferrostaal Group are 
integrated in the corporate and trade earnings tax fiscal entities 
of MAN Aktiengesellschaft or DSD Asset Management GmbH 
based on existing profit transfer agreements. The tax obliga-
tions of the companies in the fiscal entity are thus transferred 
to the two dominant fiscal unity parents MAN AG or DSD Asset 
Management GmbH.

In fiscal 2008, the allocation contract with MAN AG was not 
executed. Otherwise the tax expenditure would have been  
5 million euros higher. 

No additional deferred tax assets on corporation or trade earn-
ings tax loss carryforwards have been recognised for the do-
mestic companies as at December 31, 2008. The reason for this 
is the disappearance of all domestic tax loss carryforwards in 
accordance with section 8 (c) of the KStG (Corporation Tax law) 
at the time of the change in (majority) shareholders in the parent 
company MAN Ferrostaal AG.

Due to this legal situation, deferred tax assets on tax loss car-
ryforwards in the amount of 9 million euros were written off 
during fiscal 2008 for the domestic companies. In the case of 
the foreign companies, on the other hand, deferred taxes on 
loss carryforwards amounting to 2 million euros (previous year:  
3 million euros) were still recognised as at December 31, 2008, 
since in most countries no tax regulations comparable to those 
in section 8 (c) of the corporation tax law exist.

Furthermore, as at December 31, 2008, no deferred tax assets 
for existing tax loss carryforwards of 43 million euros (previous 
year: 66 million euros) were recognised in the foreign compa-
nies due to the low possibility that they would be realised. No 
deferred taxes were recognised for tax loss carryforwards of  
1 million euros (previous year: 2 million euros), because local 
tax laws provide for time limits on loss carryforwards, and the 
corresponding offset potential is not expected prior to the lapse 
of the carryforwards (2009–2012).

€ mill. 2008  2007

Interest and similar income 35 33

Minus interest reclassified as sales  –26  –24

Interest and similar expenses –16 –12

Interest portion in the transfer to  

pension provisions –13 –11

Income from fund assets CTA 11 9

Minus interest reclassified as other  

operating expenses - –1

 –9 –6

€ mill. 2008  2007

Current taxes

     Germany  28 31

     Abroad  9  9

Deferred taxes 

     Germany 20 –7

     Abroad –7 –1

 50 32
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities can be broken 
down into the following items:

The decline in deferred tax assets by 6 million euros compared 
to the previous year is primarily the result of the change in the 
tax rate and the write-off of existing tax assets on tax loss car-
ryforwards due to the planned (majority) shareholder change.

Taxes on actuarial gains/losses of minus 5 million euros have 
been directly recognised in other comprehensive income (previ-
ous year: minus 10 million euros).

Reconciliation of expected and actual tax expense

€ mill.      2008  %  2007  %

Earnings before taxes     158  100.0  173  100.0

Expected tax expense     50  31.6  69  39.9

Tax-exempt income     –6  –3.8  –9  –5.2

Differences from foreign tax rates     –1  –0.6  –3  –1.7

Equity-method investments     –20  –12.7  –26  –15.0

Valuation allowances to deferred taxes (especially tax loss carryforwards)    9  5.7  -  -

Changes to tax loss carryforwards without deferred taxes (due to consolidated tax filing basis)  1  0.6  -  -

Taxes related to previous years     13  8.2  1  0.6

Non-deductible expenses     8  5.1  5  2.3

Change in domestic tax rates      -  -  1  0.6

Other     –4  –2.5  –6  –4.1

Actual tax expense     50  31.6  32  18.5

                    Deferred tax assets             Deferred tax liabilities

€ mill.     31/12/2008  31/12/2007  31/12/2008  31/12/2007

Tangible assets      8  - 7 6

Property, plant and equipment      - 7 1 11

Inventories      1 - 1 3

Receivables and other assets     9  2  11  4

Pensions     8  16  -  -

Other provisions     11  9  4  -

Other liabilities     7  5  23  11

Tax loss carryforwards     2  13  -  3

Value allowances on deferred taxes     1  1  -  -

Other     -  -  4  -

     47  53  51  38
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14  oThEr INForMATIoN oN ThE  
INCoME STATEMENT

No payments under sub-leases are contained in the operating 
lease payments.

Expenses for retirement benefits were reduced by expected 
returns on plan assets in the amount of 11 million euros. In ad-
dition, contributions to national pension insurers were paid in 
the amount of 9 million euros (previous year: 9 million euros).

Material expenditure

€ mill. 2008  2007

Cost of raw materials /consumables and 

supplies and of purchased merchandise 921  864

Cost of purchased services 234  164

 1,155  1,028

Payments under operating leases

€ mill. 2008  2007

 11  10

Personnel expenses

€ mill. 2008 2007

Salaries and wages 197 188

Social security contributions and  

retirement benefits expenses 26 28

 223 216

Average number of employees in ongoing operations 

during the fiscal year

 2008  2007

Ø employees year under review  4,342  4,145

Ø temporary employees year under review 510  496

 4,852  4,641

Amortisation/depreciation/write-down

€ mill. 2008  2007

On intangible assets 1  1

On tangible assets 17  16

 18  17

Impairment losses

€ mill.  2008  2007

On tangible assets 2  1

On investment property -  5 

 2  6
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets include concessions, EDP software and similar 
rights and assets, as well as development costs. Scheduled amor-
tisation is contained in functional costs. Impairment losses are 
reported under other operating expenses.  

bAlAnce sheet disclosures 

€ mill.      Licences,     
      software,    
      and similar  Capitalised  
      rights development Intangible 
      and assets  costs assets

Gross carrying value as at 1/1/2007       8  4   12

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses      –7  –4  –11

As at 1/1/2007       1  -  1

Changes in the scope of consolidation       -  -  -

Additions      1  -  1

Disposals       -  -  -

Amortisation/depreciation/write-down      –1  -  –1

Currency adjustments      -  -  -

As at 31/12/2007       1  -  1

Gross carrying value as at 31/12/2007       6  4  10

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses       –5  –4 –9

As at 1/1/2008        1  -  1

Changes in the scope of consolidation       -  -  -

Additions      2  -  2

Reclassifications      -  -  -

Disposals       -  -  -

Amortisation      –1  -  –1

Impairment losses      -  -  -

Currency adjustments      -  -  -

As at 31/12/2008       2  -  2

Gross carrying value as at 31/12/2008       8  4  12

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses       –6  –4  –10

As at 31/12/2008       2  -  2
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16 propErTY, pLANT AND EQUIpMENT

Scheduled depreciation is contained in functional costs. 
Impairment losses are reported under other operating expenses.

€ mill.      Other    
      facilities, Prepayments  
     Technical factory  made and  
      equipment  and plants   Property, 
    Land and and office  under plant and 
    buildings machinery equipment construction equipment

Gross carrying value as at 1/1/2007      156  82  73  -  311

Accumulated depreciation       –100  –55  –60  -  –215

As at 1/1/2007       56  27  13  -  96

Changes in the scope of consolidation      19  2  1  -  22

Additions     2  8  7  1  18

Reclassifications    -  - -  –1  –1

Disposals     –5  –6  –2  -  –13

Depreciation    –4  –7  –5  -  –16

Impairment losses    –1  -  -  -  –1

As at 31/12/2007      67  24  14  -  105

Gross carrying value as at 31/12/2007      160  71  63  -  294

Accumulated depreciation      –93  –47  –49  -  –189

As at 1/1/2008    67  24  14  -  105

Changes in the scope of consolidation      -  -  1  -  1

Additions       5  3  13  -  21

Reclassifications      –2  -  1  -  –1

Disposals      -  -  -  -  -

Depreciation     –4  –7  –6  -  –17

Impairment losses      –2  -  -  -  –2

Currency adjustment      –3  –1  –1  -  –5

As at 31/12/2008      61  19  22  -  102

Gross carrying value as at 31/12/2008      158  73  77  -  308

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses     –97  –54  –55  -  –206

As at 31/12/2008     61  19  22  -  102
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17 INVESTMENT propErTY

The fair value of investment property was 6 million euros as at 
December 31, 2008 (previous year: 6 million euros). Rental receipts 
of 0.4 million euros have resulted from the rental of this invest-
ment property (previous year: 0.8 million euros). Expenses related 
to investment property amount to 0.2 million euros (previous 
year: 0.1 million euros).

18  INVESTMENTS ACCoUNTED For USING ThE EQUITY 
METhoD

MAN Ferrostaal AG and Helm AG, Hamburg, have transferred their 
shares in CEL Consolidated Energy Ltd., Port of Spain, Trinidad, 
(CEL) effective December 3, 2008, in the form of a capital increase 
in the joint venture MFH Holding GesmbH, Vienna, Austria.

Shares in the investment of 326 million euros (previous year: 277 
million euros) accounted for using the equity method relate pri-
marily to the joint venture MFH Holding GesmbH, Vienna, Austria.

The equity result of MFH Holding GesmbH is based chiefly on 
the financial statements of CEL as at October 31, 2008.

In the previous year, disclosures on associated affiliates con-
tained CEL figures that are now included in the financial infor-
mation on the joint venture MFH Holding GesmbH, Vienna, 
Austria. Previous year’s values were adjusted accordingly. Joint 
management is based on a partnership agreement that states 
that control can be exercised on a shared and equal basis.

The tables below contain summarised financial information on as-
sociated affiliates and joint ventures; all information relates to 100 
percent and not to the Group’s share in the associated affiliates:

Shares in joint ventures of 298 million euros (previous year: 29 
million euros) primarily involve the jointly managed company 
MFH Holding GesmbH, Coutinho & Ferrostaal GmbH & Co. KG 
(previously CCC Steel GmbH & Co. KG), as well as MAN Solar 
Millennium GmbH. A contingent liability of 0.9 million euros 
exists for MAN Solar Millennium GmbH, and for the company 
Coutinho & Ferrostaal GmbH & Co. KG a capital commitment of 
approximately 1.2 million euros.

€ mill. 2008  2007

Gross carrying value on January 1 38  42

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses –32  –27

As at January 1 6  15

Reclassification from tangible assets 1  -

Disposals   –1  –4

Impairment losses -  –5

As at December 31 6  6

Gross carrying value on December 31  33  38

Accumulated amortisation and

impairment losses –27  –32

As at December 31 6  6

Associated affiliates

€ mill.  2008  2007

Assets 102  583

Liabilities 36  418

Sales  182  108

Net income 6  27

Net income – Group share 2  4

Joint ventures

€ mill. 2008  2007

Assets 1,260  821

Liabilities 313  233

Sales  1,385  760

Net income 191  80

Net income – Group share 69  57
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19 INVENTorIES

Inventories amounting to 921 million euros (previous year: 864 
million euros) have been recorded under cost of sales in the pe-
riod under review. Inventories valued at 25 million euros (previ-
ous year: 15 million euros) have been written down. Impairment 
losses amount to 4 million euros (previous year: 5 million euros).

20 TrADE rECEIVABLES

48 million euros (previous year: 46 million euros) of the receiva-
bles have a remaining term of over a year and 3 million euros of 
over five years (previous year: 2 million euros). The remainder 
of 266 million euros (previous year: 242 million euros) has a 
remaining term of less than a year.

To manage default risks on customer receivables, we utilise credit 
insurance, in particular Hermes coverage for the export market.

Furthermore, allowances are made for country risks as well as 
specific and general bad debts. The gross amount of trade re-
ceivables is 393 million euros (previous year: 370 million euros).

Receivables from construction contracts recognised using the 
percentage of completion method are calculated as follows:

Additional prepayments received for construction contracts in 
the amount of 197 million euros (previous year: 220 million 
euros) for which no production costs have yet been incurred are 
reported under liabilities. 

Revenue from construction contracts amounted to 609 million 
euros (previous year: 430 million euros). Orders and partial 
orders invoiced to customers are reported under receivables 
from customers.

21 oThEr ASSETS

€ mill. 31/12/2008    31/12/2007

Raw materials and supplies 1  2

Work in process, finished products 427  447

Merchandise 30  42

Prepayments made 144  85

 602  576

€ mill. 31/12/2008     31/12/2007

PoC receivables 44  42

Due from customers 248  227

Due from associated affiliates 3  3

Due from investors  22 18

 317 290

€ mill. 31/12/2008    31/12/2007

Contract costs and proportionate contract 

profit/loss of construction contracts 924  554

     of which billed to customers -  3

PoC receivables gross  924  557

Prepayments received –880  –515

 44  42

€ mill. 31/12/2008     31/12/2007

Loans 12  32

Positive market value of currency hedge 6  24

Income tax assets 19  17

Due from investees 24  9

Reserve from pension liability insurance 3  4

Advances 1  2

Other assets 80 68

 145  156
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Other assets are reported under the following balance sheet 
captions: 

Of these 111 million euros (previous year: 105 million euros) 
have a remaining term of less than a year, 15 million euros 
(previous year: 39 million euros) have a remaining term of 1–5 
years, and 19 million euros (previous year: 12 million euros) 
have a remaining term exceeding 5 years.

Bad debt allowances on receivables from customers and from 
investees, as well as other receivables, have developed as follows:

Derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value. Their 
purpose in the main is to hedge currency risks associated with 
customer orders, as well as other foreign currency positions.

22 CASh AND CASh EQUIVALENTS

Receivables from financial transactions with associated affiliates 
generally arise from cash pooling with MAN Aktiengesellschaft 
and also reflect claims and obligations from profit transfer agree-
ments and dividends. They pertain exclusively to receivables 
from MAN Aktiengesellschaft in the amount of 596 million euros 
(previous year: 549 million euros).

€ mill. 31/12/2008     31/12/2007

Other non-current assets  34  51

Other current assets 111  105

€ mill. 31/12/2008    31/12/2007

Receivables from financial transactions with  

associated affiliates  596  549

Deposits with banks, cheques, cash on hand 77  79 

 673  628

€ mill. 2008    2007

As at January 1 141  169

Additions 35  7

Utilisations –5  –29

Liquidations –6  –27

Effects of exchange rates and other changes –1  21

As at December 31  164  141
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MAN Ferrostaal Aktiengesellschaft’s subscribed capital amounts to 
70 million euros. It is divided into 70 million shares of which 100 
percent are held directly and indirectly by MAN Aktiengesellschaft, 
Munich.

MAN Aktiengesellschaft disposed of MAN Ferrostaal Aktienge-
sellschaft’s majority shareholding in IPIC (International Petrole-
um Investment Company of Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, 
in fiscal 2008. IPIC is taking over 70 percent of our shares from 
MAN Aktiengesellschaft. The MAN Group continues to hold a 
share of 30 percent of the company. Both companies signed 
the relevant share purchase agreement on December 23, 2008. 
According to the agreement between MAN AG, Munich, and 
IPIC, Abu Dhabi, the purchase has retroactive financial effect to 
January 1, 2008. Legally, the transfer of shares is to take place 
once anti-trust approval has been received; this is expected to 
be in the first quarter of 2009.

Retained earnings include, in addition to MAN Ferrostaal AG’s 
retained earnings, the net differences from the first-time con-
solidation, the Group’s share of the retained earnings earned 
after the balance sheet date of the initial consolidation, as well 
as the equity portion of all other consolidation processes. ‘All 

other changes’ primarily include, in addition to other changes 
from capital consolidation that do not impact profit and loss, 
changes in currencies and shareholdings.

Equity rose in fiscal 2008 over the previous year, due chiefly 
to net income of 100 million euros for the period. As a result 
of the disposal of steel trading activities effective December 
28, 2007, to CCC Steel GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, ‘non-Group 
shares’ relating to the Ferrostaal Metals Group Inc., Houston, 
USA, have been eliminated accordingly.

Under the control and profit transfer agreement entered into 
with MAN Aktiengesellschaft, MAN Ferrostaal AG has trans-
ferred net income for the period in the amount of 4 million 
euros to MAN Aktiengesellschaft.

23 EQUITY

€ mill.      Accumulated   
      other   
    Additional  comprehen- Noncon-  
   Subscribed paid-in Retained sive trolling  
   capital capital earnings income interests Total

As at December 31, 2006   70  83  150  -66  18  255

Dividend payment   -  -  –31  -  -  –31

Net income 2007   -  -  151  5  -  156

Currency translation difference   -  -  -  –22  -  –22

Change in unrealized gains and losses   -  -  -  -  -  -

Actuarial gains and losses   -  -  -  3  -  3

Other changes   -  -  –10  1  –18  –27

As at December 31, 2007   70  83  260  –79  0  334

Dividend payment   -  -  –4  -  -  –4

Net income 2008   -  -  100  -  -  100

Currency translation difference   -  -  -  6  -  6

Actuarial gains and losses   -  -  -  3  -  3

All other changes   -  -  -  –1  -  –1

As at December 31, 2008   70  83  356  –71  0  438
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Accumulated other comprehensive income reflects the differences 
from currency translation of the equity of foreign subsidiaries and 
from the measurement of securities and currency and interest rate 
hedges classified as cash flow hedges at market prices.

24 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are reported under the following balance 
sheet captions:

The non-current financial liabilities to banks reflect a fixed-rate 
loan of the SIRIUS Grundstücksgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Es-
sen, in the amount of 11 million euros (previous year: 11 million 
euros). The interest rate is 5.09 percent per annum. As a rule, 
other liabilities to have variable interest rates.

25 pENSIoNS

Provisions for pensions are broken down as follows:

a) Pension plans and funding
The company pension scheme for domestic employees in MAN 
Ferrostaal Aktiengesellschaft is based essentially on defined 
benefits. In general, pensions are calculated from the length of 
employment with the company in conjunction with pension-
able remuneration. These retirement benefits are financed by 
creating pension provisions. Pension obligations are valued 
according to the projected unit credit method, taking into ac-
count future developments of certain parameters on the basis of 
expert actuarial opinion. Funding of domestic pension obliga-
tions commenced in fiscal 2005. The capital was transferred to 
asset trustees.

Trust assets are irrevocably inaccessible to the Group’s compa-
nies and may be used only for current retirement benefits or for 
employee claims in the case of insolvency. The proper administra-
tion and use of the trust assets is monitored by trustees independ-
ent from the company. MAN Pensionfonds AG assumes these 
tasks for MAN Ferrostaal AG. MAN Pensionfonds AG is subject to 
monitoring by the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority.

In fiscal 2007, pension obligations of approximately 120 million 
euros were transferred to MAN Pensionfonds AG, established 
by MAN AG, and fully funded. Since the companies continue 
to be debtors of last resort, the transferred pension obligations 
and the trust assets transferred to MAN Pensionfonds AG in this 
respect continue to be netted and shown in the consolidated 
balance sheet.

€ mill. 31/12/2008     31/12/2007

Pensions in Germany  35  41

Pensions abroad -  -

Accumulated other comprehensive income

€ mill. 31/12/2008  31/12/2007

Differences from currency translation –48  –54

Actuarial gains/lossese –28  –35

Deferred taxes 5  10

 –71  –79

€ mill. 31/12/2008     31/12/2007

Liabilities to banks 20  27

€ mill. 31/12/2008     31/12/2007

Non-current financial liabilities, of which: 11  11

       those with a remaining term                           

exceeding one year; 4 4

      those with a remaining term exceeding                  

exceeding five years 7 7

Current financial liability 

     remaining term less than one year 9  16
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The MAN Pensions Trust e.V. was established in fiscal 2005 under 
a Contractual Trust Agreement (CTA) to manage the trust assets.

Trust assets are invested by several asset managers in a variety 
of funds in line with specified investment guidelines. Acquisi-
tion of securities issued by MAN AG or one of the Group’s com-
panies, as well as property for own use, is not permitted.

Defined benefit retirement plans exist abroad; they are, how-
ever, immaterial from the Group’s perspective.

The following parameters are used as a basis in calculating the pro-
jected benefit obligation and the plan assets for key pension plans:

      

       Germany          Foreign

  31/12/2008   31/12/2007   31/12/2008   31/12/2007

Interest rate  6.0%   5.25%   3.25% – 7.0%   3.5% – 6.1%

Pension trend   2.0%   2.0%   0.25% – 3.3%   0.5% – 3.5%

Salary trend  2.5%   2.5%   2.0% – 3.8%   2.0% – 4.5%

Anticipated income from

plan assets  4.8% – 5.31%   4.25%   3.0% – 6.25%   3.0% – 7.2%

The biometric parameters for pensions in Germany continue 
to be based on Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck’s 2005 G tables. The 
expected return on plan assets domestically is calculated based 
on the interest rate for federal bonds with corresponding terms, 
plus the customary risk premiums based on the asset classes 
used. The individually responsible actuaries undertake the cal-
culations for foreign plan assets.

In Germany the return on plan assets was 1.04 percent.

€ mill. 2008  2007

Pensions 138  189

Shares 53  29

Other  18  -

Plan assets 209  218
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Change in present value of projected benefit obligation

€ mill. 2008  2007

Projected benefit obligation on January 1 259  294

Service cost 3  3

Interest cost 13  11

Pension payments –16  –15

Effects from changes in scope of consolidation, 

actuarial losses, currency and other –18  –34

Projected benefit obligations on December 31 241  259

b) Funded status c) Pension expense 
Expenses from pension obligations can be broken down as follows:

The components of net pension expenses for retirement 
benefits, ‘interest cost’ and ‘expected return on plan assets’, 
are reflected in the consolidated income statement in the line 
‘interest expenses’ or ‘interest income’.

d) Gains and losses eleminated directly in other comprehen-
sive income

26  TrADE pAYABLES

400 million euros (previous year: 288 million euros) of this 
have a remaining term of less than a year, and 1 million euros 
(previous year: 7 million euros) a remaining term of 1 – 5 years.

€ mill. 2008  2007

Liabilities to consolidated companies 3  7

Liabilities to third parties 349  231

Liabilities from missing invoices of settled orders 44  55

Other trade payables 5  2

 401  295

Composition of funded status and pension provisions

€ mill. 2008  2007

Plan assets at fair value 209  218

Funded DBO  –213  –229

Shortfall in funded DBO coverage  –4  –11

Non-funded DBO –28  –30

Funded status on December 31 32  41

Assets from covered pension plans 3  -

Pension provisions on December 31 35  41

Change in plan assets Germany

€ mill. 2008  2007

Plan assets on January 1 218 220

Expected return on plan assets 11  10

Contributions -  14

Pension payments –13  –7

Effects from changes in scope of consolidation,  

actuarial losses, currency and other –7  –19

Plan assets on December 31  209  218

€ mill. 2008  2007

Current service cost 3  3

Past service costs  -  -

Interest cost 13  11

Expected return on plan assets –11  –10

Net pension expenses for benefit commitments 5  4

€ mill. 2008  2007

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) on January 1 –35  –48

Change during fiscal year 7  13

Actuarial gains/losses on December 31 –28  –35



Outstanding costs chiefly contain provisions for risks related to 
long-term production orders.

Provisions for business-related obligations primarily contain 
performance still to be rendered under orders already settled 
and pending losses from outstanding contracts.

Structuring programmes contain severance payments to em-
ployees, as well as expenses in relation to capacity adjustments 
and reorganisation of value creation structures. Obligations to 
employees exist in regard to long-term service bonuses, sever-
ance and partial retirement, as well as for statutory payments 
related to termination of employment.

All other provisions involve a number of identifiable individual risks.

27 prEpAYMENTS rECEIVED

28 oThEr proVISIoNS
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€ mill.

Warranties   7  -  –1  12  –4  14

Outstanding costs   5  –1  -  34  -  38

Other business-related obligations   99  -  –4  9  –70  34

Structuring programmes   11  -  –6  1  –4  2

Obligations to employees   5  -  –1  2  -  6

All other provisions    45  -  –15  17  –5  42

   172  –1  –27  75  –83  136

Change in
the scope of 

consolidation,
currency

as at
31/12/2007

 

As reported in the balance sheet

€ mill. 2008  2007

Non-current provisions 13  8

Current provisions 123  164

 136  172

€ mill. 2008  2007

Prepayments received and utilised  502  550

Payment surplus of prepayments received 345  476

 847  1,026

Utilisation Additions Liquidations
As at 

31/12/2008
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29 oThEr LIABILITIES

Employee-related liabilities relate to salaries, wages and social secu-
rity contributions not yet paid as at the balance sheet date, as well as 
accrued vacation, Christmas bonus and annual special payments.

Other liabilities are reported under the following balance sheet 
captions:

Other non-current liabilities have a remaining term of over a year, 
but less than five years.

Other current liabilities include the first payments, totalling 113 
million euros, of a customer in Venezuela. At the present time, 
contract negotiations are being finalised with respect to financing.

30 CoNTINGENT LIABILITIES

Obligations under guarantees comprise almost exclusively guar-
antees for trade payables of investees, former investees and other 
companies. The decline vis-à-vis the previous year can chiefly be 
traced back to the planned reduction in liability for third parties 
and for former investees.

The contingent liabilities indicated are as a rule calculated at the 
highest amount that could be claimed against MAN Ferrostaal. 
Potential recourse claims are not deducted.

31 oThEr FINANCIAL oBLIGATIoNS

Other financial obligations arise from rental and lease agree-
ments, as well as repurchase obligations. Future payments until 
the expiration of the minimum term of the contracts mature as 
follows:

Financial obligations vis-à-vis third parties from capital ex-
penditure projects started are in line with industry norms. 
Leasing agreements exist chiefly in relation to the lease of land 
and buildings, as well as vehicles. 

€ mill.  31/12/2008  31/12/2007

Employee-related liabilities  43  38

Liabilities to investments

from financial transactions  29  30

Liabilities from taxes  11  11

Negative market value of currency hedge  14  2

All other liabilities  201  97

  298  178

€ mill.  31/12/2008  31/12/2007

Other non-current liabilities  2  2

Other current liabilities  296  176

other disclosures

€ mill.  31/12/2008  31/12/2007

Obligations from guarantees  39 105

Guarantees from third-party obligations  - 30

Open purchase orders  1 -

Operating lease

€ mill.   31/12/2008  31/12/2007

Due within a year  11  12

Due within one to five years  24  29

Due in over five years  6  9

  41  50

06 Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements
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32  AdditionAl disclosures on nonderivAtive 
finAnciAl instruments

The following section contains supplemental disclosures on the 
significance of nonderivative financial instruments, as well as 
regarding individual balance sheet items and the income state-
ment relating to financial instruments.

The table below compares the carrying amounts and fair values 
of financial instruments.

Fair values are determined based on the basis of market prices 
available at the balance sheet date, as well as the measure-
ment methods presented below. Volatilities, liquidity and credit 
spreads brought about by the current crisis in the financial mar-
kets were taken into account in the models used.

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other financial as-
sets, trade payables, as well as other financial liabilities mostly 
have a short remaining term. Their carrying value as at the bal-
ance sheet date, therefore, approximates their fair value.

The fair values of liabilities to banks and other financial debt 
are calculated based on the net present value of the payments 
associated with the debt, based on interest rates customary in 
the market and related to the relevant maturity.

Financial assets available for sale include equity shares of  
30 million euros (previous year: 24 million euros) measured 
at cost. These are shares of unlisted entities that could not be 
measured using a discounted cash flow method because the 
related cash flows could not be reliably measured.

 

€ mill.

Assets

Trade receivables      317  317  290  290

Cash and cash equivalents     673  673  628  628

All other financial assets     104  104  129  129

     available for sale     30  30  35  35

     derivative financial instruments from a hedging relationship     4  4  24  24

     other receivables and assets     70  70  70  70

Liabilities

Trade payables      401  401  295  295

Financial liabilities     20  20  27  27

All other financial liabilities     218  218  90  90

     derivative financial instruments from a hedging relationship     10  10  2  2

     All other liabilities      208  208  88  88

Change in
fair market

value
Carrying 
amount

Change in
fair market

value
Carrying 
amount

31/12/2008 31/12/2007
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Carrying values of financial instruments, classified according to 
the measurement categories of IAS 39, are presented as follows:

Net gains and losses from financial instruments are presented 
in the following table:

Net gains and losses from loans and receivables primarily include 
changes in bad debt allowances, currency translation and proceeds 
from payments received on loans and receivables written of and 
reversals of impairment losses.

Net gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets com-
prise mainly income from financial investments and currency 
translation.

Net gains and losses from financial liabilities measured at 
acquisition cost are composed in the main of currency transla-
tions, as well as income from the write-off of liabilities.

Net gains and losses from financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss include changes in market value of 
derivative financial instruments for which hedge accounting 
has not been applied.

Income from exchange related to the items mentioned above 
amounts to 1 million euros. 

Interest income and expenses in connection with financial as-
sets and financial liabilities are broken down as follows: 

Interest income from impaired financial assets is of minor sig-
nificance due to the fact that most of these incoming payments 
are expected in the very short term.

33  DErIVATIVES AND hEDGING STrATEGIES

The MAN Ferrostaal Group is exposed to currency and inter-
est rate risks to a not inconsiderable extent. A group-wide risk 
management system has been developed to identify, quantify 
and mitigate such risks. 

a) Risk management
The companies of the MAN Ferrostaal Group hedge their inter-
est rate and currency risk at market conditions primarily via 
MAN Ferrostaal AG’s treasury function. Nonderivative and 
derivative financial instruments are used.

Risk positions of the Group Treasury are covered externally 
with banks, taking into account specified risk limits. Hedging 

Financial assets 

€ mill.  31/12/2008  31/12/2007

Loans and receivables  387 360

Trade receivables  317 290

Other assets  70 70

Available for sale  34 35

Financial investments and marketable securities 30 24

Other assets  - 11

At fair value through profit or loss  4 24

Cash and cash equivalents  673 628

Financial liabilities

€ mill.   31/12/2008  31/12/2007

Financial liabilities measured at cost  629 410

Trade payables  401  295

Financial liabilities   20  27

Other liabilities  208  88

At fair value through profit or loss  10  2

€ mill.  2008  2007

Loans and receivables   –25  –12

Financial assets available for sale  1  10

Financial liabilities measured at cost  3  -

Financial assets and liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss  –1  –3

€ mill.  2008  2007

Interest income  35 34

Interest expenses  –11  – 6
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transactions are undertaken according to uniform guidelines 
that take into consideration the KonTraG (Corporate Sector 
Supervision and Transparency Act), as well as trading rules ap-
plicable to banks. They are subject to strict monitoring that is 
particularly assured by means of a strict separation of duties with 
respect to trading, settlement and supervision.

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board regularly receive 
reports regarding the Group’s currency positions. MAN AG’s 
internal audit function reviews adherence to guidelines.

b) Currency risk
All future cash flows that do not occur in the reporting currency 
of the relevant Group company are subject to currency risk.

The MAN Ferrostaal Group essentially hedges all customer orders 
firm and orders placed in foreign currency.

Currencies with only minor exchange rate risk due to a high 
degree of correlation with the euro are hedged on a case-by-case 
basis only. Investments or equity-like loans extended in foreign 
currency are not subject to the hedging requirement.

The MAN Ferrostaal Group’s international orientation entails 
numerous cash flows in a variety of currencies. A currency risk 
arises for the Group in the event that sales are invoiced in a cur-
rency different than the currency in which costs are incurred. In 
order to reduce the effects of exchange rate fluctuations, MAN 
Ferrostaal AG continuously quantifies the exchange rate risk and 
hedges all major risks, primarily by means of forward exchange 
contracts and currency options.

Even if the goal is to hedge all foreign currency positions in 
full, open currency positions occur as at the balance sheet date, 
such as in the US dollar. Generally, this involves inter-company 
receivables/liabilities with non-consolidated investments and 
short-term deposits with banks. If all foreign currencies were to 
depreciate by 10 percent against the euro, rewards (positive val-
ues) or risks (negative values) of –7 million euros (previous year: 
–14 million euros) would result.

Hedging relationships are accounted for as fair value hedges. 
During fiscal 2008 no hedging relationships were accounted for 
as cash flow hedges.

Income/expenses from hedging instruments in the case of fair 
value hedges amounted to –29 million euros (previous year:  

–22 million euros). Income/expenditure from hedged items 
amounted to 24 million euros (previous year: 17 million euros).

c) Interest rate risk
Due to activities in procuring and investing liquidity, MAN  
Ferrostaal holds assets and liabilities that are sensitive to 
interest rate changes. The variable interest rate inter-company 
accounts with MAN Aktiengesellschaft associated with cash 
pooling within the MAN Group represent significant assets 
with interest rate sensitivity. 

Financial instruments that are sensitive to interest rates are 
subject to the risk of changes in interest rates, either in the 
form of fair value risk or cash flow risk. Fair value risk is a meas-
ure of the sensitivity of the carrying amount of a financial 
instrument to changes in market interest rate. Income from 
this form of investment is subject to unquantifiable interest 
rate risks in the money markets. In contrast, the cash flow risk 
describes the degree of change of future interest payments 
depending on interest rate developments. Interest rate risks are 
analysed and managed centrally in the MAN Ferrostaal Group 
using sensitivity analyses. These interest rate sensitivity analy-
ses are based on the following assumptions:

In the case of nonderivative financial instruments with a vari-
able interest rate, as well as interest rate derivatives that are 
not part of a hedging relationship according to IAS 39, market 
interest rate changes affect future interest payments; they are, 
therefore, included in the calculation of the cash flow risk.

Nonderivative financial instruments with fixed interest rates 
measured at amortised acquisition cost are not subject to inter-
est rate risk, nor are fixed-interest financial instruments or 
hedging instruments accounted for as fair value hedges, since 
the changes in value in the hedged item and the hedging in-
strument due to interest rates almost exactly offset each other 
in the same period in the income statement.
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In order to calculate interest rate sensitivity, a parallel shift of 
the interest rate curve by 100 base points upwards was as-
sumed. The following rewards (positive values) or risks (nega-
tive values) resulted:

In order to limit the interest rate risks arising from nonde-
rivative financial instruments, derivative instruments such as 
interest rate swaps are used; volumes and term of these swaps 
are geared to the repayment structure of the specified customer 
portfolio or financial debt, as well as to the degree of hedging 
required.

In the event that the derivatives used do not hedge risks from 
individual financial instruments but instead from a portfolio, 
the hedging strategy does not meet the criteria for accounting 
for a hedging relationship under IAS 39. Nevertheless, the inter-
est rate risk is hedged.

d) Credit risk
From the perspective of the MAN Ferrostaal Group, credit risk 
describes the danger that a party to a financial instrument does 
not fulfil its obligations under a contract and causes a financial 
loss as a result. Credit risk comprises both the immediate risk of 
default and the danger of deterioration in credit standing, as well 
as any clustering of individual risks.

MAN Ferrostaal Group is exposed to credit risks stemming from 
both its operations and its financing activities. The maximum 
credit risk is reflected in the carrying value of the financial as-
sets reported in the balance sheet (refer to Note 32). Credit risk 
is mitigated above all by the following measures:

Liquidity management and investment is centralised in cash 
management in MAN AG, Munich. The financial institutions 
and investment forms are carefully selected via centralised in-
vestment of liquid funds. The investment strategy is primarily 
orientated towards security.

In operations, country and counterpart risks are continuously 
assessed on a decentralised basis and security levels and forms, 
such as credit insurance, established on this foundation. Out-

standing amounts are monitored on an ongoing and decentral-
ised basis. Default risks are reflected in bad debt allowances.

Default risk is minimised in project business by means of pre-
payments and obtaining collateral.

Credit risk from financing activities is monitored based on the 
portfolio at risk. The credit standing of the customers is moni-
tored on an ongoing basis by categorisation into risk classes. This 
categorisation is based on information from local financial serv-
ices companies, as well as from external standard information 
sources. Maximum credit risk is also limited through the sale of 
parts of the receivables portfolio without recourse options.

In order to reduce default risk, derivative financial instruments 
are entered into only with banks with prime ratings and with 
MAN AG. The table below contains information on overdue 
financial assets for which no specific bad debt allowances have 
been created:

Impairment losses are recorded on a group-wide basis in order 
to cover credit risks arising from these receivables.

With respect to receivables for which no specific bad debt allow-
ances have been created and which are not in payment arrears, 
there are no signs as at the balance sheet date that payment 
defaults might occur.

e) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk describes to the risk that financial obligations 
cannot be sufficiently met. 

In order to limit this risk, the MAN Ferrostaal Group conducts 
effective financial management that monitors and manages 
cash inflows and outflows on a continuous basis. Cash and cash 
equivalents are generated primarily by operations and inclu-
sion in MAN AG’s cash pooling. Cash outflows are mainly the 

€ mill.  31/12/2008  31/12/2007

Primary financial instruments

with variable interest rates  6  6

Financial assets

€ mill.  2008  2007

up to 30 days  32  24

31 – 90 days  23  24

91 – 180 days  10  5

181 days – 1 year   6  8

over 1 year  13  41
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result of providing finance for working capital, capital expendi-
ture and covering the cost of sales financing. 

In accordance with requirements under IFRS 7, the presentation 
in the following table is based on cash outflows calculated from 
the interest and redemption payments specified contractually 

for primary financial liabilities, as well as derivative financial 
instruments. If the due date has not been fixed, the liability is 
recorded at the earliest possible due date. Variable interest pay-
ments are recognised depending on the conditions as at the 
balance sheet date.

34 ShArE-BASED pAYMENT

Members of the Executive Board at MAN Ferrostaal AG receive 
share-based payment. Until fiscal 2004, this was based on the 
MAN-Unternehmenswert-Steigerungsplan (MUS – MAN Cor-
porate Value Enhancement Plan) that specified cash payments 
depending on the performance of the MAN share (virtual share 
options). In fiscal 2005, the MUS was replaced by the MAN-Ak-
tien- Programm (MAP – MAN Share Programme) under which 
beneficiaries receive allowances in money for the purpose of 
acquiring common stock in MAN AG.

MAN Share Programme
The MAN Share Programme (MAP) has been in effect since 
2005. Under the MAP, top management receives taxable cash 
payments with the stipulation that 50 percent of the amount 
granted is utilised to acquire MAN AG common stock. Acquisi-
tion and safe-keeping of shares is undertaken centrally by MAN 
AG in the name and on the account of the beneficiaries. MAP 
participants are free to dispose of the shares acquired after a 
vesting period of three years. The shares may not be sold, lent 
or hedged during the vesting period. Upon retirement or other-
wise leaving the employ of the MAN Ferrostaal Group, the vest-
ing period is shortened to one year from the date of departure.

Furthermore, beneficiaries are to use 16.67 percent of annual 
variable remuneration (bonus) for the purchase of MAN AG 
common stock (share bonus) according to the conditions of the 
MAP; the vesting period for shares acquired is set at two years.
MAN Ferrostaal AG Executive Board members have purchased 

f) Composition of hedging instruments according to the 
type of the hedging relationship

The table below shows the fair values of hedging instruments

 

€ mill.   2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 >2013

Financial liabilities   10  1  1  1  1  6

Trade payables   400  1  -  -  -  -

All other financial liabilities   208  -  -  -  -  -

Derivative financial instruments   10  -  -  -  -  -

   628  2  1  1  1  6

€ mill.  31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Fair value hedge  –6  22

Without hedging relationship  –2  -

  –8  22
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27,810 shares this year (previous year: 7,082 shares). Payments 
for these shares amounted to 1,725 thousand euros (previous 
year: 1,175 thousand euros), of which 855 thousand euros related 
to the 2007 share bonus (previous year: 644 thousand euros). 
544 thousand euros (previous year: 855 thousand euros) have 
been provided for the share purchases to be made in 2009 
related to the 2008 share bonus.

35  rELATED pArTY DISCLoSUrES

MAN Aktiengesellschaft holds all shares in MAN Ferrostaal 
Aktiengesellschaft, either directly or indirectly. This implies that 
both MAN Aktiengesellschaft and its subsidiaries are viewed as 
related parties as interpreted under IAS 24.

MAN Ferrostaal has purchased goods and services totalling 
7 million euros (previous year: 19 million euros) from MAN 
Aktiengesellschaft and its subsidiaries. MAN Ferrostaal has 
invoiced MAN Aktiengesellschaft and its subsidiaries a total of 
10 million euros (previous year: 5 million euros) for services. 
Actual volumes transacted with MAN Aktiengesellschaft and its 
subsidiaries are, however, considerably higher, since the figures 
indicated above primarily contain commission revenues.

MAN Ferrostaal is included in cash pooling with MAN Ak-
tiengesellschaft. The accounts accrue interest ranging from  
3.7 percent to 5.2 percent per annum and are valued at 601 mil-
lion euros as at December 31, 2008 (previous year: 570 million 
euros). Interest received in the fiscal year totals 25 million euros 
(previous year: 14 million euros).

Under the control and profit transfer agreement entered into 
with MAN Aktiengesellschaft, MAN Ferrostaal Aktiengesellschaft 
has transferred net income for the period in the amount of  
4 million euros to MAN Aktiengesellschaft. (Previous year net 
income for the period: 6 million euros).

The company utilises the following central services of MAN 
Aktiengesellschaft:
• Tax services
• Legal services
• Financing / cash management
• M&A
• Personnel
• Internal audit

Related parties of material significance for the MAN Ferrostaal 
Group are associated affiliates with whom transactions arise 
from the exchange of goods and services. The table below shows 
the scope of these relationships.

MAN Ferrostaal has holdings calculated at a capital share of 
45 percent in MFH Holding GesmbH Vienna, Austria, in Con-
solidated Energy Limited, Port of Spain, Trinidad (CEL) and its 
subsidiaries; refer to Note 18. These are viewed as related parties 
as interpreted under IAS 24. 

Incoming orders from CEL and its investment companies 
amounted to 46 million euros (previous year: 50 million euros).

Furthermore, a service agreement exists in which MAN Ferrostaal 
AG agrees to perform organisational services for Coutinho & 
Ferrostaal GmbH & Co KG, Hamburg, which are required to run 
operations located in Essen. In fiscal 2008, a consideration for 
these services of 2,258 thousand euros (previous year: 2,282 thou-
sand euros) was invoiced. 

€ mill.   31/12/2008  31/12/2007

Revenue   469  368

Purchased services  24  3

Receivables  9  29

Liabilities  1  3
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36 rEMUNErATIoN oF ThE ExECUTIVE BoArD

Active members of the Executive Board have been remunerated 
as follows:

The service cost under pension provisions is reported as pay-
ment after termination of employment.

As at December 31, 2008, the net present value of retirement 
benefit commitments vis-à-vis active members of the Executive 
Board amounted to 1,088 thousand euros (previous year: 3,149 
thousand euros). Expenditure related to allocations to provisions 
amounted to 331 thousand euros (previous year: 402 thousand 
euros), of which 300 thousand euros (previous year: 278 thou-
sand euros) relates to the service cost portion, and 31 thousand 
euros (previous year: 124 thousand euros) to the interest portion.

Retirement benefits for former Executive Board members, 
including amounts paid in the first year after termination of 
their contract and in retirement, as well as for their surviving 
dependents amounted to 776 thousand euros (previous year: 
322 thousand euros). A total of 9,385 thousand euros (previous 
year: 6,795 thousand euros) has been provided for pension obli-
gations with respect to former members of the Executive Board 
and their surviving dependents.

Acquisition costs of shares purchased during the fiscal year are 
included in the amounts under variable share bonuses and MAP.

37 rEMUNErATIoN oF ThE SUpErVISorY BoArD

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is composed as follows:

€ thousands  2008  2007

Fixed remuneration  1,495  1,766

Variable cash bonus  2,118  1,884

Variable share bonus and MAP  1,725  1,386

Retirement benefits expenditure  300  278

  5,638  5,314

€ thousands  2008  2007

Fixed remuneration  63  63

Variable remuneration  102  102

   165  165
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38  AppLICATIoN oF ExEMpTIoNS UNDEr SECTIoN 264, 
pArAGrAph 3, oF ThE GErMAN CoMMErCIAL CoDE 
AND SECTIoN 264 (B) oF ThE GErMAN CoMMErCIAL 
CoDE

The domestic subsidiaries below, in the legal form of limited 
liability companies or private limited companies as interpreted 
under section 264 (a) of the German Commercial Code, have 
made use in part of the exemption rules under section 264, para-
graph 3, and section 264 (b) of the German Commercial Code. 

As at December 31, 2008

DSD Asset Management GmbH Essen

MAN Ferrostaal Industrieanlagen GmbH Geisenheim

MAN Ferrostaal Automotive GmbH  Essen

SMH Stahlmagazin GmbH  Seelze

SMG Stahlmagazin GmbH  Ginsheim-Gustavsburg

SMB Stahlmagazin GmbH  Bochum

SMK Stahlmagazin GmbH  Kaiserslautern

LMS Logistik-Magazin Saarlouis GmbH Saarlouis

LMK Logistik-Magazin GmbH  Cologne

SCR SILS-Center GmbH  Rüsselsheim

SCB SILS-Center GmbH Bochum  Bochum

SGI Saarländische Gesellschaft für Industriebeteiligungen mbH  Essen

MAN Ferrostaal Industrial Projects GmbH  Essen

MAN Ferrostaal Piping Supply GmbH  Essen

SLS Services GmbH  Saarlouis

SIRIUS Grundstücksgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG  Essen

Eisenbau Essen GmbH  Essen

MAN Ferrostaal Diesel Power GmbH  Essen

HILGERS Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG  Essen

Essen, January 28, 2009 

Executive Board of MAN Ferrostaal Aktiengesellschaft
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We issued the following unqualified audit opinion:

“Auditor’s report 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared 
by MAN Ferrostaal Aktiengesellschaft, comprising the income 
statement, the balance sheet, cash Flow statement, statement of 
changes in comprehensive income, the notes to the consolidat-
ed financial statements, together with the group management 
report of for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 
2008. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
and the group management report in accordance with IFRSs, as 
adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to of section 315a para. 1 HGB (Ger-
man Commercial Code) are the responsibility of the parent 
company‘s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the 
group management report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with section 317 HGB (German Commer-
cial Code) and German generally accepted standards for the au-
dit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) and supplementary provisions in Inter-
national Standards on Auditing (ISA). Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements 
materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations in the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable financial report-
ing framework and in the group management report are detect-
ed with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activi-
ties and the economic and legal environment of the Group and 
expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into ac-
count in the determination of audit procedures. The effective-
ness of the accounting-related internal control system and the 
evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the group management report are exam-
ined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. 
The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of 
those entities included in consolidation, the determination of 
entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and 
consolidation principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements and the group manage-
ment report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable ba-
sis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consoli-
dated financial statements comply with IFRSs, as adopted by the 
EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to section 315a para. 1 HGB and give a true and fair 
view of the net assets, financial position and results of opera-
tions of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The 
group management report is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements and, as a whole, provides a suitable view of 
the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities 
and risks of future development.”

Düsseldorf, 28 January 2009

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(formerly
KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft Wirt-
schaftsprüfungsgesellschaft)

Wagenseil    Haas
Wirtschaftsprüfer   Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor)   (German Public Auditor)
 

Auditor’s report
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Financial figures in € mill.     2005 2006 2007 2008

Order intake      1,745  1,982  1,556  1,836

Germany       372  283  380  279

Abroad       1,373  1,699  1,176  1,557

Revenue       1,414  1,379  1,445  1,640

Germany       301  247  270  285

Abroad       1,113  1,132  1,175  1,355

Order backlog      2,037  2,342  2,415  2,578

Germany       210  233  332  328

Abroad       1,827  2,109  2,083 2,250

Employees in Germany and abroad

Number      4,563  4,290  4,175  4, 431

Personnel expenditure per person in €       50,963  47,418  51,715  50,429

Capital expenditures and financing in € mill.

Capital expenditures on tangible and intangible assets    31  15  18  23

Capital expenditures on financial investments      2  7  27  10

Depreciation and amortisation       22  26  28  27

Cash earnings       –17  40  102  79

Operating profit       64  119  179  167

Free cash flow       –90  257  53

Key indicators in percent

Equity ratio       12.7  11.8  15.6  19.4

Equity to fixed assets ratio      93.8  91.1  80.9  94.0

ROS       4.5  8.6  12.4  10.2

Return on capital employed ROCE       31.2  36.9  37.3

Four yEAr rEviEw
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